ANNEX A. INSTRUCTIONS TO TENDERERS

REFERENCE: RESPA/EC/SER/002-18

When submitting their tenders, tenderers must follow all instructions, forms, terms of reference, contract provisions and specifications contained in this tender dossier. Failure to submit a tender containing all the required information and documentation within the deadline specified may lead to the rejection of the tender.

These instructions set out the rules for submitting, selecting and implementing contracts financed under this call for tenders, in conformity with the Practical Guide, (available on the internet at this address: http://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/prag/document.do).

1. Services to be provided

The services required by the Contracting Authority are described in the Terms of Reference. They are set out in Annex II to the draft contract, which forms Part B of this tender dossier.

2. Timetable

	DATE	TIME*
Deadline for requesting clarification from the Contracting Authority	7 May 2018	СОВ
Last date for the Contracting Authority to issue clarification	17 May 2018	СОВ
Deadline for submitting tenders	28 May 2018	10:00 am
Completion date for evaluating technical offers	June 2018	
Notification of award	June 2018	
Contract signature	June 2018	
Start date	June 2018	

^{*} All times are in the time zone of the country of the Contracting Authority

3. Participation and experts

- a) Natural or legal persons are not entitled to participate in this tender procedure or be awarded a contract if they are in any of the situations mentioned in Section 2.3.3.1. or 2.3.3.2. of the **Practical Guide**. Should they do so, their tender will be considered unsuitable or irregular respectively.
- b) In the cases listed in Section 2.3.3.1. of the **Practical Guide** tenderers may be excluded from EU financed procedures and be subject to financial penalties representing 2% to 10% of the total value of the contract in accordance with the conditions set in Section 2.3.4. of the **Practical Guide**. This information may be published on the Commission website in accordance with the conditions set in Section 2.3.4. of the Practical Guide.

4. Content of tenders

Offers, all correspondence and documents related to the tender exchanged by the tenderer

2018
Invitation to tenderers

and the Contracting Authority must be written in English.

Supporting documents and printed literature furnished by the tenderer may be in another language, provided they are accompanied by a translation into the language of the procedure. For the purposes of interpreting the tender, the language of the procedure has precedence.

The tender must comprise of a Technical offer and a financial offer, which must be submitted in separate envelopes (see clause 8). Each Technical offer and financial offer must contain one original, clearly marked 'Original', and two copies, each marked 'Copy'. Failure to fulfil the requirements in clauses 4.1, 4.2 and 8 will constitute a formal error and may result in rejection of the tender.

4.1. Technical offer

The Technical offer must include the following documents:

- (1) **Tender submission form** including:
 - a) A signed declaration together with a signed "Declaration of honour on exclusion criteria and selection criteria" from each legal entity identified in the tender submission form, using the format attached to the tender submission form.
 - b) A completed **Financial Identification form** (see Annex VI to the draft contract) to indicate the bank account into which payments should be made if the tender is successful.
 - c) The **legal entity file** and supporting documents.
 - d) Duly authorised signature: an official document (statutes, power of attorney, notary statement, etc.) proving that the person who signs on behalf of the company/joint venture/consortium is duly authorised to do so.
- (2) **Organisation and methodology** (will become Annex III to the contract), to be drawn up by the tenderer using the format in Annex III to the draft contract.
- (3) Documentary evidence of the financial and economic capacity and/or of the technical and professional capacity according to the selection criteria. (See further point 2.4.11 of the Practical Guide).

If the documentary evidence submitted is not written in one of the official languages of the European Union, a translation into the language of the procedure must be attached. Where the documents are in an official language of the European Union other than the one of the procedure, it is however strongly recommended to provide a translation into the language of the procedure, in order to facilitate the evaluation of the documents. Documentary proof or statements may be in original or copy. If copies are submitted, the originals must be available to send to the Contracting Authority upon request.

Tenderers are reminded that the provision of false information in this tender procedure may lead to the rejection of their tender and to their exclusion from EU-funded procedures and contracts.

The electronic version of the technical offer must be included with the printed version in the separate envelope in which the technical offer is submitted. If there are any discrepancies between the electronic version and the original, printed version, the latter has precedence.

4.2. Financial offer

The Financial offer must be presented as an amount in Euro and must be submitted using the provided template from this tender dossier. The global price may be broken down by outputs

2018 Page 2 of 7

if required from the Terms of Reference. Tenderers are reminded that the maximum budget available for this contract, as stated in the contract notice, is €70,630 EUR. Payments under this contract will be made in the currency of the tender.

5. Variant solutions

Tenderers are not authorised to tender for a variant in addition to this tender.

6. Period during which tenders are binding

Tenderers are bound by their tenders for 90 days after the deadline for submitting tenders or until they have been notified of non-award. The selected tenderer must maintain its tender for a further 60 days. A further period of 60 days is added to the validity period irrespective of the date of notification. This period can be further extended when the contracting authority is required to obtain the recommendation of the panel referred to in section 2.3.3.1 of the Practical Guide, up to the adoption of that recommendation.

7. Additional information before the deadline for submitting tenders

The tender dossier should be clear enough to avoid candidates having to request additional information during the procedure. If the Contracting Authority, either on its own initiative or in response to a request from a tenderer, provides additional information on the tender dossier, it must send such information in writing to all the tenderers at the same time.

Tenderers may submit questions in writing to the following address up to 21 days before the deadline for submission of tenders, specifying the publication reference and the contract title:

ReSPA – Regional School of Public Administration Branelovica bb, Danilovgrad, Montenegro procurement@respaweb.eu

The Contracting Authority has no obligation to provide clarification requested after this date.

Any tenderer seeking to arrange individual meetings with the Contracting Authority and/or the government of the partner country and/or the European Commission concerning this contract during the tender period may be excluded from the tender procedure.

No information meeting or site visit is foreseen.

8. Submission of tenders

Tenders must be delivered to the Contracting Authority for receipt before 28 May 2018 by 10:00 am. They must include the requested documents in clause 4 above and be sent:

• EITHER by recorded delivery (official postal service) to:

Regional School of Public Administration – ReSPA
Branelovica, 81410 Danilovgrad, Montenegro
For the attention of:
Ms. Natasa Kuč

 OR hand delivered (including courier services) directly to the Contracting Authority against a signed and dated receipt to:

Regional School of Public Administration – ReSPA
Branelovica, 81410 Danilovgrad, Montenegro
For the attention of:
Ms Natasa Kuč

2018 Page 3 of 7

In this case, the acknowledgment of receipt makes proof of compliance with the time-limit for receipt.

Tenders submitted by any other means will not be considered. Tenders must be submitted using the double envelope system, i.e., in an outer parcel or envelope containing two separate, sealed envelopes, one bearing the words 'Envelope A — Technical offer' and the other 'Envelope B — Financial offer'. All parts of the tender other than the financial offer must be submitted in Envelope A (i.e., including the Tender submission form, Organisation and methodology).

Any infringement of these rules (e.g., unsealed envelopes or references to price in the technical offer) will lead to rejection of the tender.

The outer envelope should provide the following information:

- a) the address for submitting tenders indicated above;
- b) the reference code of the tender procedure (ReSPA/EC/SER/002-18);
- c) the words 'Not to be opened before the tender-opening session'
- d) the name of the tenderer.

The pages of the Technical and Financial offers must be numbered.

9. Amending or withdrawing tenders

Tenderers may amend or withdraw their tenders by written notification prior to the deadline for submitting tenders. Tenders may not be amended after this deadline.

Any such notification of amendment or withdrawal must be prepared and submitted in accordance with Clause 8. The outer envelope (and the relevant inner envelope) must be marked 'Amendment' or 'Withdrawal' as appropriate.

10. Costs for preparing tenders

No costs incurred by the tenderer in preparing and submitting the tender are reimbursable. All such costs must be borne by the tenderer, including the cost of interviewing proposed experts.

11. Ownership of tenders

The Contracting Authority retains ownership of all tenders received under this tendering procedure. Consequently, tenderers do not have the right to have their tenders returned to them.

12. Evaluation of tenders

12.1. Evaluation of technical offers

The quality of each technical offer will be evaluated in accordance with the award criteria and the weighting detailed in the evaluation grid in Part C of this tender dossier. No other award criteria will be used. The award criteria will be examined in accordance with the requirements indicated in the Terms of Reference.

The evaluation of the technical offers will follow the procedures set out in Section 3.3.10 of the Practical Guide (available on the internet at http://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/prag/document.do).

2018 Page 4 of 7

12.1.1. Interviews

No interviews are foreseen.

12.2. Evaluation of financial offers

Upon completion of the technical evaluation, the envelopes containing the financial offers for tenders that were not eliminated during the technical evaluation will be opened (i.e. those with an average score of 75 points or more). Tenders exceeding the maximum budget available for the contract are unacceptable and will be eliminated.

12.3. Choice of selected tenderer

The Contract will be awarded to the most advantageous bidder. The best quality/price ratio is established by weighing technical quality against price on an 80/20 basis.

12.4. Confidentiality

The entire evaluation procedure is confidential, subject to the Contracting Authority's legislation on access to documents. The Evaluation Committee's decisions are collective and its deliberations are held in closed session. The members of the Evaluation Committee are bound to secrecy. The evaluation reports and written records are for official use only and may be communicated neither to the tenderers nor to any party other than the Contracting Authority, the European Commission, the European Anti-Fraud Office and the European Court of Auditors.

13. Ethics clauses / Corruptive practices

- a) Any attempt by a tenderer to obtain confidential information, enter into unlawful agreements with competitors or influence the Evaluation Committee or the Contracting Authority during the process of examining, clarifying, evaluating and comparing tenders will lead to the rejection of its tender and may result in administrative penalties.
- b) The tenderer must not be affected by any conflict of interest and must have no equivalent relation in that respect with other tenderers or parties involved in the project.
- c) The European Commission reserves the right to suspend or cancel project financing if corrupt practices of any kind are discovered at any stage of the award process or during the execution of a contract and if the Contracting Authority fails to take all appropriate measures to remedy the situation. For the purposes of this provision, 'corrupt practices' are the offer of a bribe, gift, gratuity or commission to any person as an inducement or reward for performing or refraining from any act relating to the award of a contract or execution of a contract already concluded with the Contracting Authority.
- d) Tenders will be rejected or contracts terminated if it emerges that the award or execution of a contract has given rise to unusual commercial expenses. Such unusual commercial expenses are commissions not mentioned in the main contract or not stemming from a properly concluded contract referring to the main contract, commissions not paid in return for any actual and legitimate service, commissions remitted to a tax haven, commissions paid to a payee who is not clearly identified or commissions paid to a company which has every appearance of being a front company.

Contractors found to have paid unusual commercial expenses on projects funded by the European Union are liable, depending on the seriousness of the facts observed, to have their contracts terminated or to be permanently excluded from receiving EU funds.

e) The Contracting Authority reserves the right to suspend or cancel the procedure, where the award procedure proves to have been subject to substantial errors, irregularities or

2018 Page 5 of 7

fraud. If substantial errors, irregularities or fraud are discovered after the award of the Contract, the Contracting Authority may refrain from concluding the Contract.

14. Signature of contract(s)

14.1. Notification of award

The successful tenderer will be informed in writing that its tender has been accepted.

14.2. Signature of the contract(s)

Within 10 days of receipt of the contract already signed by the Contracting Authority, the selected tenderer shall sign and date the contract and return it to the Contracting Authority.

Failure of the selected tenderer to comply with this requirement may constitute grounds for annulling the decision to award the contract. In this event, the Contracting Authority may award the tender to another tenderer or cancel the tender procedure.

The other tenderers will, at the same time as the notification of award is submitted, be informed that their tenders were not accepted, by means of a standard letter, including an indication of the relative weaknesses of their tender by way of a comparative table of the scores for the winning tender and the unsuccessful tender. The second best tenderer is informed of the notification of award to the successful tenderer with the reservation of the possibility to receive a notification of award in case of inability to sign the contract with the first ranked tenderer. The validity of the offer of the second best tenderer will be kept. The second tenderer may refuse the award of the contract if, when receiving a notification of award, the 90 days of validity of their tender has expired.

The Contracting Authority will furthermore, at the same time, also inform the remaining unsuccessful tenderers and the consequence of these letters will be that the validity of their offers must not be retained.

15. Cancellation of the tender procedure

In the event of cancellation of the tender procedure, the Contracting Authority will notify tenderers of the cancellation. If the tender procedure is cancelled before the outer envelope of any tender has been opened, the unopened and sealed envelopes will be returned to the tenderers.

Cancellation may occur, for example, where:

- the tender procedure has been unsuccessful, i.e., no suitable, qualitatively or financially acceptable tender has been received or there is no valid response at all;
- there are fundamental changes to the economic or technical data of the project;
- exceptional circumstances or force majeure render normal performance of the contract impossible;
- all technically acceptable tenders exceed the financial resources available;
- there have been substantial errors, irregularities or frauds in the procedure, in particular if they have prevented fair competition;
- the award is not in compliance with sound financial management, i.e. does not respect the principles of economy, efficiency and effectiveness (e.g. the price proposed by the tenderer to whom the contract is to be awarded is objectively disproportionate with regard to the price of the market).

2018 Page 6 of 7

In no event shall the Contracting Authority be liable for any damages whatsoever including, without limitation, damages for loss of profits, in any way connected with the cancellation of a tender procedure, even if the Contracting Authority has been advised of the possibility of damages. The publication of a contract notice does not commit the Contracting Authority to implement the programme or project announced.

16. Appeals

Tenderers believing that they have been harmed by an error or irregularity during the award process may file a complaint. See section 2.4.15 of the Practical Guide.

2018 Page 7 of 7

SERVICE CONTRACT NOTICE

INVITATION TO TENDER FOR THE PROVISION OF TRAVEL SERVICES

Danilovgrad, Montenegro

1. Reference

ReSPA/EC/SER/02-18

2. Procedure

Competitive negotiated procedure

3. Programme title

Support to the Regional School of Public Administration (ReSPA) in its efforts to contribute to the Public Administration Reform under the EU integration process in the Western Balkans.

4. Financing

Financing will be provided from the Grant Contract – External Actions of the European Union – CN 2016/373 854 – Budget Heading 2. Travel.

5. Contracting Authority

Regional School of Public Administration

CONTRACT SPECIFICATION

6. Nature of contract

Global price

7. Contract description

The contract aims to provide elaborated travel services to the ReSPA in regard to flight tickets and other means of transportation related to conferences, seminars, working group meetings and other events in non-EU and EU countries. The contract encompasses two types of services:

- a) Air Travel Services
- b) Land Travel Services within Montenegro

8. Number and titles of lots

Lot 1: Travel services to the ReSPA in regards to flight tickets and other means of transportation

9. Maximum budget

Up to 70,630 EUR.

20 April 2018 Page 1 of 5

CONDITIONS OF PARTICIPATION

10. Eligibility

Participation is open to all natural persons who are nationals of and legal persons [participating either individually or in a grouping (consortium) of tenderers] which are effectively established in a Member State of the European Union or in a eligible country or territory as defined under the Regulation (EU) N°236/2014 establishing common rules and procedures for the implementation of the Union's instruments for external action (CIR) for the applicable Instrument under which the contract is financed (see also heading 22 below).

11. Number of tenders

No more than one tender can be submitted by a natural or legal person whatever the form of participation (as an individual legal entity or as leader or member of a consortium submitting a tender). In the event that a natural or legal person submits more than one tender, all tenders in which that person has participated will be excluded.

12. Grounds for exclusion

As part of the tender, tenderers must submit a signed declaration, included in the tender form, to the effect that they are not in any of the exclusion situations listed in Section 2.3.3. of the Practical Guide.

13. Sub-contracting

Subcontracting is not allowed.

PROVISIONAL TIMETABLE

14. Provisional commencement date of the contract

June 2018

15. Implementation period of the tasks

June 2018 - November 2018

SELECTION AND AWARD CRITERIA

16. Selection criteria

The following selection criteria will be applied to the tenderers. In the case of tenders submitted by a consortium, these selection criteria will be applied to the consortium as a whole. if not specified otherwise. The selection criteria will not be applied to natural persons and single-member companies when they are sub-contractors.

1) Economic and financial capacity of the tenderer (based on item 3 of the tender form). In case of tenderer being a public body, equivalent information should be provided. The reference period which will be taken into account will be the last three years for which accounts have been closed.

The objective of this criterion is to examine whether or not the tenderer (i.e., the consortium as a whole, in the case of a tender from a consortium):

- will not be economically dependent on the Contracting Authority in the event that the contract is awarded to it; and
- has sufficient financial stability to handle the proposed contract.

Examples of financial criteria for legal body:

- the average annual turnover of the tenderer must exceed the annualised maximum budget of
 the contract i.e., the maximum budget stated in the contract notice divided by the initial
 contract duration in years, where this exceeds 1 year (minimum annual turnover requested
 may not exceed 2 times the estimated annual contract value, except in duly justified cases
 motivated in the tender dossier); and
- Current ratio (current assets/current liabilities) in the last year for which accounts have been closed must be at least 1. In case of a consortium this criterion must be fulfilled by each member.

2) Professional capacity of the tenderer (based on items 4 of the tender form).

The reference period which will be taken into account will be the last three years from submission deadline.

The objective of this criterion is to examine whether or not the tenderer (i.e., the consortium as a whole, in the case of a tenderer from a consortium):

- has sufficient ongoing staff resources and expertise to be able to handle the proposed contract
- is not a so-called 'body shop', i.e. a tenderer with no real expertise in fields related to the contract but which simply identifies and proposes experts to fit the project description.

Examples of professional criteria for legal persons:

- at least 3 staff currently work for the tenderer in fields related to this contract
- <u>3) Technical capacity of candidate</u> (based on items 5 and 6 of the tender form). The reference period which will be taken into account will be the last three years from submission deadline.

The objective of this criterion is to examine whether or not the tenderer (i.e. the consortium as a whole, in the case of a tender from a consortium) has sufficient expertise and experience to be able to handle the proposed contract.

Example of technical criterion for legal persons:

• the tenderer has provided services under at least one contract with a budget of at least that of this contract which were implemented at any moment during the following period: 2015-2017.

This means that the project the tenderer refers to could have been started or completed at any time during the indicated period but it does not necessarily have to be started and completed during that period, nor implemented during the entire period. Candidates/tenderers are allowed to refer either to projects completed within the reference period (although started earlier) or to projects not yet completed. In the first case the project will be considered in its whole if proper

evidence of performance is provided (statement or certificate from the entity which awarded the contract, proof of final payment for services). In case of projects still on-going only the portion satisfactorily completed during the reference period although started earlier will be taken into consideration. This portion will have to be supported by documentary evidence (similarly to projects completed) also detailing its value. If a tenderer has implemented the project in a consortium, the percentage that the tenderer has successfully completed must be clear from the documentary evidence, together with a description of the nature of the services provided if the selection criteria relating to the pertinence of the experience have been used.

Previous experience which would have led to breach of contract and termination by a Contracting Authority shall not be used as reference. This is also applicable concerning the previous experience of experts required under a fee-based service contract.

An economic operator may, where appropriate and for a particular contract, rely on the capacities of other entities, regardless of the legal nature of the links which it has with them. It must in that case prove to the Contracting Authority that it will have at its disposal the resources necessary for performance of the contract, for example by producing a commitment on the part of those entities to place those resources at its disposal. Such entities, for instance the parent company of the economic operator, must respect the same rules of eligibility - notably that of nationality - and must fulfil the same relevant selection criteria as the economic operator. With regard to technical and professional criteria, an economic operator may only rely on the capacities of other entities where the latter will perform the works or services for which these capacities are required. With regard to economic and financial criteria, the entities upon whose capacity the tenderer relies, become jointly and severally liable for the performance of the contract.

17. Award criteria

The Contract will be awarded to the most advantageous bidder. The best quality/price ratio is established by weighing technical quality against price on an 80/20 basis.

TENDERING

18. Deadline for receipt of tenders

The deadline for receipt of tenders is specified in point 8 of the Instruction to Tenderers.

19. Tender format and details to be provided

Tenders must be submitted using the standard tender form for Competitive Negotiated Procedures, the format and instructions of which must be strictly observed.

The tender must be accompanied by a declaration of honour on exclusion and selection criteria using the template available from the following Internet address:

http://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/prag/annexes.do?chapterTitleCode=A

Any additional documentation (brochure, letter, etc.) sent with a tender will not be taken into consideration.

20. How tenders may be submitted

Tenders must be submitted in English exclusively to the Contracting Authority, using the means specified in point 8 of the Instructions to Tenderers.

Tenders submitted by any other means will not be considered.

By submitting a tender tenderers accept to receive notification of the outcome of the procedure by electronic means.

20 April 2018 Page 4 of 5

21. Alteration or withdrawal of tenders

Tenderers may alter or withdraw their tenders by written notification prior to the deadline for submission of tenders. No tender may be altered after this deadline.

Any such notification of alteration or withdrawal shall be prepared and submitted in accordance with point 8 of the Instructions to Tenderers. The outer envelope (and the relevant inner envelope if used) must be marked 'Alteration' or 'Withdrawal' as appropriate.

22. Operational language

All written communications for this tender procedure and contract must be in English.

23. Legal basis

Regulation (EU) N°236/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 March 2014 laying down common rules and procedures for the implementation of the Union's instruments for financing external action.

20 April 2018 Page 5 of 5





ANNEX B. DRAFT CONTRACT AND SPECIAL CONDITIONES

SERVICE CONTRACT FOR EUROPEAN UNION EXTERNAL ACTIONS

N° FN/RES/EC/xxx-18

RELATIVE TO EC GRANT

Regional School of Public Administration Branelovica bb, 81400 Danilovgrad ("the Contracting Authority"),

of the one part,

and

XXX

Official registration number: xxx

Official address: xxx VAT number: xxx ('the Contractor')

of the other part,

have agreed as follows:

CONTRACT TITLE: PROVISION OF TRAVEL SERVICES

Identification number RESPA/EC/SER/002-18

(1) Subject

- 1.1 The subject of this Contract is provision of travel services for ReSPA with identification number **RESPA/EC/SER/002-18** ('the services').
- 1.2 The contractor shall execute the tasks assigned to him in accordance with the Terms of Reference annexed to the Contract (Annexe II)

(2) Contract value

This Contract, established in euro, is a global price contract. The contract value is **up to EUR 70,630**.

(3) Order of precedence of contract documents

The following documents shall be deemed to form and be read and construed as part of this Contract, in the following order of precedence:

- the contract agreement;
- the Special Conditions

- the General Conditions (Annex I);
- the Terms of Reference (Annex II)
- the Organisation and methodology (Annex III);

These above listed documents make up the contract. They shall be deemed to be mutually explanatory. In cases of ambiguity or divergence, they shall prevail in the order in which they appear above. Addenda shall have the order of precedence of the document they are amending.

(4) Language of the contract

The language of the contract and of all written communications between the Contractor and the Contracting Authority and/or the Project Manager shall be English.

(5) Other specific conditions applying to the Contract

Done in English in two originals: one original for the Contracting Authority and one original for the Contractor.

For the Contractor	For the Contracting Authority	
Name:	Name: Ratka Sekulovic	
Title:	Title: ReSPA Director	
Signature:	Signature:	
Date:	Date:	

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

These conditions amplify and supplement the General Conditions governing the Contract. Unless the Special Conditions provide otherwise, the General Conditions remain fully applicable. The numbering of the Articles of the Special Conditions is not consecutive but follows the numbering of the General Conditions. Exceptionally, and with the approval of the competent European Commission departments, other clauses can be indicated to cover particular situations.

Article 2 Communications

2.1 Contact person of the Contracting Authority:

Mr. Vlatko Naumovski, Operations and Finance Manager - Coordinator

Address: ReSPA, Branelovica bb, 81400 Danilovgrad

E mail addresses: v.naumovski@respaweb.eu

Contact person of the Contractor:

XXX

Address: xxx

E mail addresses: xxx

Article 4 Subcontracting

4.9 Subcontracting is not allowed

Article 7 General Obligations

7.1 The Contractor must take necessary measures to ensure the EU visibility on financing or co-financing. These activities must comply with the rules lay down in the Communication and Visibility Manual for EU External Actions published by the European Commission. These rules are set out and available at https://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/sites/devco/files/communication and visibility manual en.pdf

Article 19 Implementation of the tasks and delays

- 19.1 The start date for implementation shall be date/date of signature of the contract by both parties
- 19.2 The period for implementing the tasks is until 30 November 2018.

Article 27 Approval of Reports and Documents

The Contracting Authority shall, within 10 days of receipt, notify the Contractor of its decision concerning the documents or reports received by it, giving reasons should it reject the reports or documents, or request amendments. If the Contracting Authority does not give any comments on the documents or reports within the time limit, the Contractor may request written acceptance of them. The documents or reports shall be deemed to have been approved by the Contracting Authority if it does not expressly inform the Contractor of any comments within 10 days of the receipt of the report.

Article 29 Payment and interest on late payment

29.1 Payments will be made in euro in accordance with Articles 20.6 and 29.4 of the General Conditions into the bank account notified by the Contractor to the Contracting Authority.

Article 30 Financial Guarantee

30.1 By derogation from article 30 of the General Conditions no pre-financing guarantee is required.

Article 40 Settlement of disputes

In default of amicable settlement, the parties may refer the matter to arbitration in accordance with the Permanent Court of Arbitration Optional Rules for Arbitration Involving International Organisations and States in force at the date of conclusion of this Agreement. The appointing authority shall be the Secretary General of the Permanent Court of Arbitration following a written request submitted by either Party. The Arbitrator's decision shall be binding on all Parties and there shall be no appeal* * *

ANNEX B I.

GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR SERVICE CONTRACTS FOR EXTERNAL ACTIONS FINANCED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION OR BY THE EUROPEAN DEVELOPMENT FUND

CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1.	DEFINITIONS	2
ARTICLE 2.	COMMUNICATIONS	2
ARTICLE 3.	Assignment	2
ARTICLE 4.	SUBCONTRACTING	3
ARTICLE 5.	SUPPLY OF INFORMATION	3
ARTICLE 6.	ASSISTANCE WITH LOCAL REGULATIONS	3
ARTICLE 7.	GENERAL OBLIGATIONS	4
ARTICLE 8.	CODE OF CONDUCT	5
ARTICLE 9.	CONFLICT OF INTEREST	5
ARTICLE 10.	ADMINISTRATIVE SANCTIONS	6
ARTICLE 11.	SPECIFICATIONS AND DESIGNS	6
ARTICLE 12.	Liabilities	7
ARTICLE 13.	MEDICAL, INSURANCE AND SECURITY ARRANGEMENTS	8
ARTICLE 14.	INTELLECTUAL AND INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY RIGHTS	9
ARTICLE 15.	THE SCOPE OF THE SERVICES	10
ARTICLE 16.	STAFF	11
ARTICLE 17.	REPLACEMENT OF STAFF	11
ARTICLE 18.	Trainees	12
ARTICLE 19.	IMPLEMENTATION OF THE TASKS AND DELAYS	12
ARTICLE 20.	AMENDMENT TO THE CONTRACT	13
ARTICLE 21.	WORKING HOURS	14
ARTICLE 22.	LEAVE ENTITLEMENT	14
ARTICLE 23.	Information	14
ARTICLE 24.	Records	14
ARTICLE 25.	VERIFICATIONS, CHECKS AND AUDITS BY EUROPEAN UNION BODIES	15
ARTICLE 26.	INTERIM AND FINAL REPORTS	15
ARTICLE 27.	APPROVAL OF REPORTS AND DOCUMENTS	16
ARTICLE 28.	EXPENDITURE VERIFICATION	16
ARTICLE 29.	PAYMENT AND INTEREST ON LATE PAYMENT	17
ARTICLE 30.	FINANCIAL GUARANTEE	19
ARTICLE 31.	RECOVERY OF DEBTS FROM THE CONTRACTOR	20
ARTICLE 32.	REVISION OF PRICES	20
ARTICLE 33.	PAYMENT TO THIRD PARTIES	20
ARTICLE 34.	Breach of contract	20
ARTICLE 35.	SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT	21
ARTICLE 36.	TERMINATION BY THE CONTRACTING AUTHORITY	21
ARTICLE 37.	TERMINATION BY THE CONTRACTOR	23
ARTICLE 38.	FORCE MAJEURE	23
ARTICLE 39.	DECEASE	24
ARTICLE 40.	SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES	24
ARTICLE 41.	APPLICABLE LAW	25
ARTICLE 42.	DATA PROTECTION	25

PRELIMINARY PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 1. DEFINITIONS

- 1.1. The headings and titles in these General Conditions shall not be taken as part thereof or be taken into consideration in the interpretation of the contract.
- 1.2. Where the context so permits, words in the singular shall be deemed to include the plural and vice versa, and words in the masculine shall be deemed to include the feminine and vice versa.
- 1.3. The word "country" shall be deemed to include State or Territory.
- 1.4. Words designating persons or parties shall include firms and companies and any organisation having legal capacity.
- 1.5. The definitions of the terms used throughout this General Conditions are laid down in the "Glossary of terms", annex A1a to the Practical Guide, which forms an integral part of the contract.

ARTICLE 2. COMMUNICATIONS

- 2.1. Unless otherwise specified in the Special Conditions, any written communication relating to this contract between the Contracting Authority or the Project Manager, and the Contractor shall state the contract title and identification number, and shall be sent by post, cable, telex, facsimile transmission, e-mail or personal delivery to the appropriate addresses designated by the Parties for that purpose in the Special Conditions.
- 2.2. If the sender requires evidence of receipt, it shall state such requirement in its communication and shall demand such evidence of receipt whenever there is a deadline for the receipt of the communication. In any event, the sender shall take all the necessary measures to ensure timely receipt of its communication.
- 2.3. Wherever the contract provides for the giving or issue of any notice, consent, approval, certificate or decision, unless otherwise specified such notice, consent, approval, certificate or decision shall be in writing and the words 'notify', 'consent', 'certify', 'approve' or 'decide' shall be construed accordingly. Any such consent, approval, certificate or decision shall not unreasonably be withheld or delayed.
- 2.4. Any oral instructions or orders shall be confirmed in writing.

ARTICLE 3. ASSIGNMENT

- 3.1. An assignment shall be valid only if it is a written agreement by which the Contractor transfers its contract or part thereof to a third party.
- 3.2. The Contractor shall not, without the prior consent of the Contracting Authority, assign the contract or any part thereof, or any benefit or interest thereunder, except in the following cases:
 - (a) a charge, in favour of the Contractor's bankers, of any monies due or to become due under the contract; or
 - (b) the assignment to the Contractor's insurers of the Contractor's right to obtain relief against any other person liable in cases where the insurers have discharged the Contractor's loss or liability.
- 3.3. For the purpose of article 3.2, the approval of an assignment by the Contracting Authority shall not relieve the Contractor of its obligations for the part of the contract already performed or the part not assigned.

- 3.4. If the Contractor has assigned the contract without authorisation, the Contracting Authority may, without formal notice thereof, apply as of right the sanction for breach of contract provided for in Articles 34 and 36.
- 3.5. Assignees shall satisfy the eligibility criteria applicable for the award of the contract and they shall not fall under the exclusion criteria described in the tender dossier.

ARTICLE 4. SUBCONTRACTING

- 4.1. A subcontract shall be valid only if it is a written agreement by which the Contractor entrusts performance of a part of the contract to a third party.
- 4.2. The Contractor shall request to the Contracting Authority the authorization to subcontract. The request must indicate the elements of the contract to be subcontracted and the identity of the subcontractors. The Contracting Authority shall notify the Contractor of its decision, within 30 days of receipt of the request, stating reasons should it withhold such authorization.
- 4.3. No subcontract creates contractual relations between any subcontractor and the Contracting Authority.
- 4.4. The Contractor shall be responsible for the acts, defaults and negligence of its subcontractors and its experts, agents or employees, as if they were the acts, defaults or negligence of the Contractor, its experts, agents or employees. The approval by the Contracting Authority of the subcontracting of any part of the contract or of the subcontractor to perform any part of the services shall not relieve the Contractor of any of its obligations under the contract.
- 4.5. If a subcontractor is found by the Contracting Authority or the Project Manager to be incompetent in discharging its duties, the Contracting Authority or the Project Manager may request the Contractor forthwith, either to provide a subcontractor with qualifications and experience acceptable to the Contracting Authority as a replacement, or to resume the implementation of the tasks itself.
- 4.6. Subcontractors shall satisfy the eligibility criteria applicable to the award of the contract and they shall not fall under the exclusion criteria described in the tender dossier.
- 4.7. Those services entrusted to a subcontractor by the Contractor shall not be entrusted to third parties by the subcontractor, unless otherwise agreed by the Contracting Authority.
- 4.8. If the Contractor enters into a subcontract without approval, the Contracting Authority may, without formal notice thereof, apply as of right the sanction for breach of contract provided for in Articles 34 and 36.

OBLIGATIONS OF THE CONTRACTING AUTHORITY

ARTICLE 5. SUPPLY OF INFORMATION

- 5.1. The Contracting Authority shall supply the Contractor promptly with any information and/or documentation at its disposal which may be relevant to the performance of the contract. Such documents shall be returned to the Contracting Authority at the end of the period of implementation of the tasks.
- 5.2. The Contracting Authority shall co-operate with the Contractor to provide information that the latter may reasonably request in order to perform the contract.
- 5.3. The Contracting Authority shall give notification to the Contractor of the name and address of the Project Manager.

ARTICLE 6. ASSISTANCE WITH LOCAL REGULATIONS

6.1. The Contractor may request the assistance of the Contracting Authority in obtaining copies of laws, regulations, and information on local customs, orders or by-laws of the country in which the services are to be performed, which may affect the Contractor in the performance of its obligations

- under the contract. The Contracting Authority may provide the assistance requested to the Contractor at the Contractor's cost.
- 6.2. Subject to the provisions of the laws and regulations on foreign labour of the country in which the services have to be rendered, the Contracting Authority provides reasonable assistance to the Contractor, at its request, for its application for any visas and permits required by the law of the Country in which the services are rendered, including work and residence permits, for the staff whose services the Contractor and the Contracting Authority consider necessary, as well as residence permits for their families.

OBLIGATIONS OF THE CONTRACTOR

ARTICLE 7. GENERAL OBLIGATIONS

- 7.1. The Contractor shall execute the contract with due care, efficiency and diligence in accordance with the best professional practice.
- 7.2. The Contractor shall comply with any administrative orders given by the Project Manager. Where the Contractor considers that the requirements of an administrative order go beyond the authority of the Project Manager or of the scope of the contract he shall give notice, with reasons, to the Project Manager. If the Contractor fails to notify within the 30 day period after receipt thereof, he shall be barred from so doing. Execution of administrative order should not be suspended because of this notice.
- 7.3. The Contractor shall supply, without delay, any information and documents to the Contracting Authority and the European Commission upon request, regarding the conditions in which the contract is being executed.
- 7.4. The Contractor shall respect and abide by all laws and regulations in force in the partner country and shall ensure that its staff, their dependants, and its local employees also respect and abide by all such laws and regulations. The Contractor shall indemnify the Contracting Authority against any claims and proceedings arising from any infringement by the Contractor, its employees and their dependants of such laws and regulations.
- 7.5. Should any unforeseen event, action or omission directly or indirectly hamper performance of the contract, either partially or totally, the Contractor shall immediately and at its own initiative record it and report it to the Contracting Authority. The report shall include a description of the problem and an indication of the date on which it started and of the remedial action taken by the Contractor to ensure full compliance with its obligations under the contract. In such event the Contractor shall give priority to solving the problem rather than determining liability.
- 7.6. Subject to Article 7.8, the Contractor undertakes to treat in the strictest confidence and not make use of or divulge to third parties any information or documents which are linked to the performance of the contract without the prior consent of the Contracting Authority. The Contractor shall continue to be bound by this undertaking after completion of the tasks and shall obtain from each member of its staff the same undertaking. However, use of the contract's reference for marketing or tendering purposes does not require prior approval of the Contracting Authority, except where the Contracting Authority declares the contract to be confidential.
- 7.7. If the Contractor is a joint venture or a consortium of two or more persons, all such persons shall be jointly and severally bound in respect of the obligations under the contract, including any recoverable amount. The person designated by the consortium to act on its behalf for the purposes of the contract shall have the authority to bind the consortium and is the sole interlocutor for all contractual and financial aspects. The composition or the constitution of the joint venture or consortium shall not be altered without the prior consent of the Contracting Authority. Any alteration of the composition of the consortium without the prior consent of the Contracting Authority may result in the termination of the contract.
- 7.8. Save where the European Commission requests or agrees otherwise, the Contractor shall ensure the highest visibility to the financial contribution of the European Union. To ensure such publicity

- the Contractor shall implement among other actions the specific activities described in the Special Conditions. All measures must comply with the rules in the Communication and Visibility Manual for EU External Actions published by the European Commission.
- 7.9. Any records shall be kept for a 7-year period after the final payment made under the contract as laid down in Article 24. These documents comprise any documentation concerning income and expenditure and any inventory, necessary for the checking of supporting documents, including timesheets, plane and transport tickets, pay slips or invoices for the remuneration paid to the experts and invoices or receipts for incidental expenditure. In case of failure to maintain such records the Contracting Authority may, without formal notice thereof, apply as of right the sanction for breach of contract provided for in Articles 34 and 36.

ARTICLE 8. CODE OF CONDUCT

- 8.1. The Contractor shall at all-time act impartially and as a faithful adviser in accordance with the code of conduct of its profession as well as with appropriate discretion. It shall refrain from making any public statements concerning the project or the services without the prior approval of the Contracting Authority. It shall not commit the Contracting Authority in any way whatsoever without its prior consent, and shall make this obligation clear to third parties.
- 8.2. The Contractor and its staff shall respect human rights and undertake not to offend the political, cultural and religious practices prevailing in the country where the services have to be rendered.
- 8.3. The Contractor shall respect environmental legislation applicable in the country where the services have to be rendered and internationally agreed core labour standards, e.g. the ILO core labour standards, conventions on freedom of association and collective bargaining, elimination of forced and compulsory labour, elimination of discrimination in respect of employment and occupation, and the abolition of child labour.
- 8.4. The Contractor or any of its subcontractors, agents or staff shall not abuse of its entrusted power for private gain. The Contractor or any of its subcontractors, agents or staff shall not receive or agree to receive from any person or offer or agree to give to any person or procure for any person, gift, gratuity, commission or consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward for performing or refraining from any act relating to the performance of the contract or for showing favour or disfavour to any person in relation to the contract. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations and codes relating to anti-bribery and anti-corruption.
- 8.5. The payments to the Contractor under the contract shall constitute the only income or benefit it may derive in connection with the contract. The Contractor and its staff must not exercise any activity or receive any advantage inconsistent with their obligations under the contract.
- 8.6. The execution of the contract shall not give rise to unusual commercial expenses. Unusual commercial expenses are commissions not mentioned in the contract or not stemming from a properly concluded contract referring to the contract, commissions not paid in return for any actual and legitimate service, commissions remitted to a tax haven, commissions paid to a recipient who is not clearly identified or commission paid to a company which has every appearance of being a front company. The Contracting Authority and the European Commission may carry out documentary or on-the-spot checks they deems necessary to find evidence in case of suspected unusual commercial expenses.

ARTICLE 9. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

9.1. The Contractor shall take all necessary measures to prevent or end any situation that could compromise the impartial and objective performance of the contract. Such conflict of interests could arise in particular as a result of economic interest, political or national affinity, family or emotional ties, or any other relevant connection or shared interest. Any conflict of interests which may arise during performance of the contract shall be notified to the Contracting Authority without delay. In the event of such conflict, the Contractor shall immediately take all necessary steps to resolve it.

- 9.2. The Contracting Authority reserves the right to verify that such measures are adequate and may require additional measures to be taken if necessary. The Contractor shall ensure that its staff, including its management, is not placed in a situation which could give rise to conflict of interests. Without prejudice to its obligations under the contract, the Contractor shall replace, immediately and without compensation from the Contracting Authority, any member of its staff exposed to such a situation.
- 9.3. The Contractor shall refrain from any contact which would compromise its independence or that of its staff.
- 9.4. The Contractor shall limit its role in connection with the project to the provision of the services described in the contract.
- 9.5. The Contractor and anyone working under its authority or control in the performance of the contract or on any other activity shall be excluded from access to other EU budget/EDF funds available under the same project. However, the Contractor may participate after approval of the Contracting Authority if it the Contractor is able to prove that its involvement in previous stages of the project does not constitute unfair competition.
- 9.6. Civil servants and other staff of the public administration of the country where the services have to be rendered, regardless of their administrative situation, shall not be recruited as experts unless the prior approval has been granted by the European Commission.

ARTICLE 10. ADMINISTRATIVE SANCTIONS

- 10.1. Without prejudice to the application of other remedies laid down in the contract, a sanction of exclusion from all contracts and grants financed by the EU may be imposed, after an adversarial procedure, upon the Contractor who, in particular,
 - a) is guilty of grave professional misconduct, has committed irregularities or has been found in serious breach of its contractual obligations. The duration of the exclusion shall not exceed the duration set by final judgement or final administrative decision or, in the absence thereof, three years;
 - b) is guilty of fraud, corruption, participation in a criminal organisation, money laundering, terrorist-related offences, child labour or trafficking in human beings. The duration of the exclusion shall not exceed the duration set by final judgement or final administrative decision or, in the absence thereof, five years.
- 10.2. In the situations mentioned in Article 10.1, in addition or in alternative to the sanction of exclusion, the Contractor may also be subject to financial penalties representing 2-10% of the total value of the contract.
- 10.3. Where the Contracting Authority is entitled to impose financial penalties, it may deduct such financial penalties from any sums due to the Contractor or call on the appropriate guarantee.
- 10.4. The decision to impose administrative sanctions may be published on a dedicated internet-site, explicitly naming the Contractor.
- 10.5. The above administrative sanctions may also be imposed on persons who are members of the administrative, management or supervisory body of the Contractor, on persons having powers of representation, decision or control with regard to the Contractor, on persons jointly and severally liable for the performance of the contract and on subcontractors.

ARTICLE 11. SPECIFICATIONS AND DESIGNS

11.1. The Contractor shall prepare all specifications and designs using accepted and generally recognised systems acceptable to the Contracting Authority and taking into account the latest design criteria.

11.2. The Contractor shall ensure that the specifications and designs and all documentation relating to procurement of goods and services for the project are prepared on an impartial basis so as to promote competitive tendering.

ARTICLE 12. LIABILITIES

12.1. Liability for damage to services

Without prejudice to Article 30 (financial guarantee) and Article 38 (force majeure), the Contractor shall assume (i) full responsibility for maintaining the integrity of services and (ii) the risk of loss and damage, whatever their cause, until the completion of the implementation of the tasks and approval of reports and documents under Articles 26 and 27.

After the completion of the implementation of the tasks, the Contractor shall be responsible for and shall indemnify the Contracting Authority for any damage caused to the services by the Contractor, its staff, its subcontractors and any person for which the Contractor is answerable, during any operation performed to complete any work left, as the case may be, pending or to comply with its obligations under Articles 26 and 27, particularly if the contract is performed in phases.

Compensation for damage to the services resulting from the Contractor's liability in respect of the Contracting Authority is capped at the contract value.

However, compensation for loss or damage resulting from fraud or gross negligence of the Contractor, its staff, its subcontractors and any person for which the Contractor is answerable, can in no case be capped.

The Contractor shall remain responsible for any breach of its obligations under the contract for such period after the services have been performed as may be determined by the law governing the contract, even after approval of the reports and documents, or by default for a period of 10 years.

12.2. Contractor's liability in respect of the Contracting Authority

At any time, the Contractor shall be responsible for and shall indemnify the Contracting Authority for any damage caused during the performance of the services, to the Contracting Authority by the Contractor, its staff, its subcontractors and any person for which the Contractor is answerable.

Compensation for damage resulting from the Contractor's liability in respect of the Contracting Authority is capped at an amount equal to one million euros if the contract value is less than or equal to one million euros. If the contract value is greater than one million euros, compensation for damages resulting from the Contractor's liability shall be capped to the contract value.

However, compensation for loss or damage resulting from the Contractor's liability in case of bodily injury, including death, can in no case be capped. The same applies to compensation for any damages of any kind resulting from fraud or gross negligence of the Contractor, its staff, its subcontractors and any person for which the Contractor is answerable.

12.3. Contractor's liability in respect of third parties

Without prejudice to Article 14.9, the Contractor shall, at its own expense, indemnify, protect and defend, the Contracting Authority, its agents and employees, from and against all actions, claims, losses or damage, direct or indirect, of whatever nature (hereinafter "claim(s)") arising from any act or omission by the Contractor, its staff, its subcontractors and/or any person for which the Contractor is answerable, in the performance of the services, including any violation of any legal provisions, or rights of third parties, in respect of patents, trademarks and other forms of intellectual property such as copyrights.

The Contracting Authority must notify any third party claim to the Contractor as soon as possible after the Contracting Authority becomes aware of them.

If the Contracting Authority chooses to challenge and defend itself against the claim(s), the Contractor shall bear the reasonable costs of defense incurred by the Contracting Authority, its agents and employees.

Under these general conditions, the agents and employees of the Contracting Authority, as well as the Contractor's staff, its subcontractors and any person for which the Contractor is answerable are considered to be third parties.

- 12.4. The Contractor shall treat all claims in close consultation with the Contracting Authority
- 12.5. Any settlement or agreement settling a claim requires the prior express written consent of the Contracting Authority and the Contractor.

ARTICLE 13. MEDICAL, INSURANCE AND SECURITY ARRANGEMENTS

13.1. Medical arrangement

The Contracting Authority may condition the performance of the services to the production, by the Contractor, of a recent medical certificate attesting that the Contractor itself, its staff, its subcontractors and/or any person for which the Contractor is answerable, are fit to implement the services required under this contract.

13.2. Insurance – general issues

- a) At the latest together with the return of the countersigned contract, and for the period of implementation of the tasks, the Contractor shall ensure that itself, its staff, its subcontractors and any person for which the Contractor is answerable, are adequately insured with insurance companies recognized on the international insurance market, unless the Contracting Authority has given its express written consent on a specific insurance company.
- b) At the latest together with the return of the countersigned contract, the Contractor shall provide the Contracting Authority with all cover notes and/or certificates of insurance showing that the Contractor's obligations relating to insurance are fully respected. The Contractor shall submit without delay, whenever the Contracting Authority or the Project Manager so requests, an updated version of the cover notes and/or certificates of insurance.

The Contractor shall obtain from the insurers that they commit to personally and directly inform the Contracting Authority of any event likely to reduce, cancel or alter in any manner whatsoever, that coverage. The insurers shall deliver this information as quickly as possible, and in any event at least thirty (30) days before the reduction, cancellation or alteration of the cover is effective. The Contracting Authority reserves the right to indemnify the insurer in case the Contractor fails to pay the premium, without prejudice to the Contracting Authority's right to recover the amount of the premium it paid, and to subsequently seek compensation for its possible resulting damage.

- c) Whenever possible, the Contractor shall ensure that the subscribed insurance contracts contain a waiver of recourse in favor of the Contracting Authority, its agents and employees.
- d) The purchase of adequate insurances by the Contractor shall in no case exempt it from its statutory and/or contractual liabilities.
- e) The Contractor shall fully bear the consequences of a total or partial lack of coverage, and to the full discharge of the Contracting Authority.
- f) The Contractor shall ensure that its staff, its subcontractors and any person for whom the Contractor is answerable comply with the same insurance requirements imposed to it under this contract. In case of default of insurance or inadequate insurance of its staff, its subcontractors or any person for which the Contractor is answerable, the Contractor shall indemnify the Contracting Authority from all consequences resulting therefrom.
- g) Under its own responsibility and without prejudice to the obligation to take out all insurance covering its obligations under this contract, the Contractor shall ensure that all compulsory insurances are subscribed in compliance with the laws and regulations in force in the country in which the services are to be performed. It shall also ensure that all possible statutory obligations applying to the coverage are complied with.

- h) The Contracting Authority shall not bear any liability for the assessment and adequacy of insurance policies taken out by the Contractor with its contractual and/or statutory obligations.
- i) In any event, the Contractor shall take out the insurance referred to below.

13.3. Insurance – Specific issues

- a) The Contractor shall take out all insurance necessary to cover its liability, both with regard to its professional liability and its liability as provided under Article 12.
- b) The contractor shall ensure that itself, its staff, its subcontractors and any person for which the Contractor is answerable, are covered by an insurance policy covering, in addition to the possible intervention of any statutory insurance:
 - i. all medical expenses, including hospital expenses;
 - ii. the full cost of repatriation in case of illness, accident, or in the event of death by disease or accident;
 - iii. accidental death or permanent disability resulting from bodily injury incurred in connection with the contract.

In the absence of adequate insurance, the Contracting Authority may bear such costs to the benefit of the Contractor itself, its staff, its subcontractors and any person for which the Contractor is answerable. This bearing of the costs by the Contracting Authority shall be subsidiary and may be claimed against the Contractor, its subcontractors and any person who should have taken out this insurance, without prejudice to the compensation of the Contracting Authority's possibly resulting damage.

- c) The Contractor shall take out insurance policies providing coverage of the Contractor itself, its staff, its subcontractors and any person for which the Contractor is answerable, in case of an accident at work or on the way to work. It shall ensure that its subcontractors do the same. It indemnifies the Contracting Authority against any claims that its employees or those of its subcontractors could have in this regard. For its permanent expatriate staff, where appropriate, the Contractor shall in addition comply with the laws and regulations applicable in the country of origin.
- d) The Contractor shall also insure the personal effects of its employees, experts and their families located in the partner country against loss or damage.

13.4. Security arrangements

The Contractor shall put in place security measures for its employees, experts and their families located in the partner country commensurate with the physical danger (possibly) facing them.

The Contractor shall also be responsible for monitoring the level of physical risk to which its employees, experts and their families located in the partner country are exposed and for keeping the Contracting Authority informed of the situation. If the Contracting Authority or the Contractor becomes aware of an imminent threat to the life or health of any of its employees, experts or their families, the Contractor must take immediate emergency action to remove the individuals concerned to safety. If the Contractor takes such action, he must communicate this immediately to the Project Manager and this may lead to suspension of the contract in accordance with Article 35.

ARTICLE 14. INTELLECTUAL AND INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

- 14.1. A "result" shall be any outcome of the implementation of the contract and provided as such by the Contractor.
- 14.2. The ownership of all the results or rights thereon as listed in the tender specification and the tender attached to the contract, including copyright and other intellectual or industrial property rights, and

all technological solutions and information embodied therein, obtained in performance of the contract, shall be irrevocably and fully vested to the Contracting Authority from the moment these results or rights are delivered to it and accepted by it. The Contracting Authority may use them as it sees fit and in particular may store, modify, translate, display, reproduce, publish or communicate by any medium, as well as, assign, transfer them as it sees fit.

- 14.3. For the avoidance of doubt and where applicable, any such vesting of rights is also deemed to constitute an effective transfer of the rights from the Contractor to the Contracting Authority.
- 14.4. The above vesting of rights in the Contracting Authority under this contract covers all territories worldwide and is valid for the whole duration of intellectual or industrial property rights protection, unless stipulated otherwise by the Contracting Authority and the Contractor.
- 14.5. The Contractor shall ensure that delivered results are free of rights or claims from third parties including in relation to pre-existing rights, for any use envisaged by the Contracting Authority. If the Contracting Authority so requires, the Contractor shall provide exhaustive proof of ownership or rights to use all necessary rights, as well as, of all relevant agreements of the creator(s).
- 14.6. All reports and data such as maps, diagrams, drawings, specifications, plans, statistics, computations, databases format and data, software and any supporting records or materials acquired, compiled or prepared by the Contractor in the performance of the contract, as well as, any outcome of the implementation of the contract, shall be the absolute property of the Contracting Authority unless otherwise specified. The Contractor shall, upon completion of the contract, deliver all such documents and data to the Contracting Authority. The Contractor must not retain copies of such documents and data and must not use them for purposes unrelated to the contract without the prior consent of the Contracting Authority.
- 14.7. The Contractor shall not publish articles relating to the services or refer to them when carrying out any services for others, or divulge information obtained by the Contractor in the course of the contract for purposes other than its performance, without the prior consent of the Contracting Authority.
- 14.8. By delivering the results the Contractor warrants that the above transfer of rights does not violate any law or infringe any rights of others and that it possesses the relevant rights or powers to execute the transfer. It also warrants that it has paid or has verified payment of all fees including fees to collecting societies, related to the final results.
- 14.9. The Contractor shall indemnify and hold the Contracting Authority harmless for all damages and cost incurred due to any claim brought by any third party including creators and intermediaries for any alleged breach of any intellectual, industrial or other property right based on the Contracting Authority's use as specified in the contract of patents, licenses, drawings, designs, models, or brand or trade-marks, except where such infringement results from compliance with the design or specification provided by the Contracting Authority.

NATURE OF THE SERVICES

ARTICLE 15. THE SCOPE OF THE SERVICES

- 15.1. The scope of the services is specified in Annex II and Annex III.
- 15.2. Where the contract is for an advisory function for the benefit of the Contracting Authority and/or Project Manager in respect of all the technical aspects of the project which may arise out of its implementation, the Contractor shall not have decision-making responsibility.
- 15.3. Where the contract is for management of the implementation of the project, the Contractor shall assume all the duties of management inherent in supervising the implementation of a project, subject to the Project Manager's authority.
- 15.4. If the Contractor is required to prepare a tender dossier, the dossier shall contain all documents necessary for consulting suitable Contractors, manufacturers and suppliers, and for preparing tender procedures with a view to carrying out the works or providing the supplies or services

covered by an invitation to tender. The Contracting Authority shall provide the Contractor with the information necessary for drawing up the administrative part of the tender dossier.

ARTICLE 16. STAFF

- 16.1. For fee-based contracts, the Contractor must inform the Contracting Authority of all staff which the Contractor intends to use for the implementation of the tasks, other than the key experts whose CVs are included in Annex IV. Annex II and/or Annex III shall specify the minimum level of training, qualifications and experience of the staff and, where appropriate, the specialisation required. The Contracting Authority shall have the right to oppose the Contractor's choice of staff.
- 16.2. All those working on the project with the approval of the Contracting Authority shall commence their duties on the date or within the period laid down in Annex II and/or Annex III, or, failing this, on the date or within the periods notified to the Contractor by the Contracting Authority or the Project Manager.
- 16.3. Save as otherwise provided in the contract, those working on the contract shall reside close to their normal place of posting. Where part of the services is to be performed outside the partner country, the Contractor shall keep the Project Manager informed of the names and qualifications of staff assigned to that part of the services.
- 16.4. The Contractor shall:
 - (a) forward to the Project Manager within 30 days of the signature of the contract by both parties, the timetable proposed for placement of the staff;
 - (b) inform the Project Manager of the date of arrival and departure of each member of staff;
 - (c) submit to the Project Manager for its approval a timely request for the appointment of any non-key experts.
- 16.5. The Contractor shall provide its staff with all financial and technical means needed to enable them to carry out their tasks described under this contract efficiently.
- 16.6. No recruitment of an expert by the Contractor can create contractual relations between the expert and the Contracting Authority.

ARTICLE 17. REPLACEMENT OF STAFF

- 17.1. The Contractor shall not make changes to the agreed staff without the prior approval of the Contracting Authority. The Contractor must on its own initiative propose a replacement in the following cases:
 - (a) In the event of death, in the event of illness or in the event of accident of an agreed staff;
 - (b) If it becomes necessary to replace an agreed staff for any other reasons beyond the Contractor's control (e.g. resignation, etc.).
- 17.2. Moreover, in the course of performance, and on the basis of a written and justified request to which the Contractor shall provide its own and the agreed staff's observations, the Contracting Authority can order an agreed staff to be replaced.
- 17.3. Where an agreed staff must be replaced, the replacement must possess at least equivalent qualifications and experience, and the remuneration to be paid to the replacement cannot exceed that received by the agreed staff who has been replaced. Where the Contractor is unable to provide a replacement with equivalent qualifications and/or experience, the Contracting Authority may either decide to terminate the contract, if the proper performance of it is jeopardised, or, if it considers that this is not the case, accept the replacement, provided that the fees of the latter are renegotiated to reflect the appropriate remuneration level.
- 17.4. Additional costs incurred by the replacement of an agreed staff are the responsibility of the Contractor. The Contracting Authority makes no payment for the period when the agreed staff to be replaced is absent. The replacement of any agreed staff, whose name is listed in Annex IV of the contract, must be proposed by the Contractor within 15 calendar days from the first day of the

- agreed staff's absence. If after this period the Contractor fails to propose a replacement in accordance with Article 17.3 above, the Contracting Authority may apply liquidated damages up to 10% of the remaining fees of that expert to be replaced. The Contracting Authority must approve or reject the proposed replacement within 30 days.
- 17.5. The partner country may be notified of the identity of the agreed staff proposed to be added or replaced in the contract to obtain its approval. The partner country must not withhold its approval unless it submits duly substantiated and justified objections to the proposed experts in writing to the Contracting Authority within 15 days of the date of the request for approval.

ARTICLE 18. TRAINEES

- 18.1. If required in the terms of reference, the Contractor shall provide training for the period of implementation of the tasks for trainees assigned to it by the Contracting Authority under the terms of the contract.
- 18.2. Instruction by the Contractor of such trainees shall not confer on them the status of employees of the Contractor. However, they must comply with the Contractor's instructions, and with the provisions of article 8, as if they were employees of the Contractor. The Contractor may on reasoned request in writing obtain the replacement of any trainee whose work or conduct is unsatisfactory.
- 18.3. Unless otherwise provided in the contract, allowance for trainees covering notably travel, accommodation and all other expenses incurred by the trainees, shall be borne by the Contracting Authority.
- 18.4. The Contractor shall report at quarterly intervals to the Contracting Authority on the training assignment. Immediately prior to the end of the period of implementation of the tasks, the Contractor shall draw up a report on the result of the training and an assessment of the qualifications obtained by the trainees with a view to their future employment. The form of such reports and the procedure for presenting them shall be as laid down in the terms of reference.

PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTRACT

ARTICLE 19. IMPLEMENTATION OF THE TASKS AND DELAYS

- 19.1. The Special Conditions fix the date on which implementation of the tasks is to commence.
- 19.2. The period of implementation of tasks shall commence on the date fixed in accordance with Article 19.1 and shall be as laid down in the Special Conditions, without prejudice to extensions of the period which may be granted.
- 19.3. If the Contractor fails to perform the services within the period of implementation of the tasks specified in the contract, the Contracting Authority shall, without formal notice and without prejudice to its other remedies under the contract, be entitled to liquidated damages for every day which shall elapse between the end of the period of implementation of the tasks specified in the contract and the actual date of completion of these tasks.
- 19.4. The daily rate for liquidated damages is calculated by dividing the contract value by the number of days of the period of implementation of the tasks, up to a maximum of 15% of the total value of the contract.
- 19.5. If the Contracting Authority has become entitled to claim 15% of the contract value, it may, after giving notice to the Contractor:
 - (a) terminate the contract, and;
 - (b) enter into a contract with a third party to complete the services, at the Contractor's cost.

ARTICLE 20. AMENDMENT TO THE CONTRACT

- 20.1. Any amendment to the contract affecting its object or scope, such as amendment to the total contract amount, replacement of an agreed staff the Curriculum Vitae of which is part of the contract and change of the period of implementation shall be formalised by means of an addendum. Both parties may request an addendum for amendment to the contract according to the following principles:
 - (a) An addendum for amendment may be requested only during the period of execution of the contract;
 - (b) Any request for an addendum shall be submitted in writing to the other party at least thirty days before the date on which the intended addendum is required to enter into force. In case of special circumstances duly substantiated by the Contractor, the Contracting Authority may accept a different notice period.

The requested party shall notify the requesting party of its decision concerning the request within 30 days from its receipt. There is no automatic amendment without written confirmation by the requested party.

- 20.2. Additionally, the Project Manager has the power to issue administrative orders requesting an amendment to the contract not affecting its object or scope, including on request of the Contractor, according to the following principles:
 - The requested contract amendment may take the form of additions, omissions, substitutions, changes in quality, quantity, specified sequence, method or timetable of implementation of the services;
 - b) Prior to the issuance of any administrative order, the Project Manager shall notify the Contractor of the nature and the form of the proposed amendment.

The Contractor shall then, without delay, submit to the Project Manager a written proposal containing:

- (i) all measures required to comply with the requested amendment,
- (ii) an updated timetable for implementation of the tasks, and,
- (iii) if necessary, a proposed financial adjustment to the contract, using the contractual fee rates when the tasks are similar. When the tasks are not similar, the contractual fee rates shall be applied when reasonable.

Following receipt of the Contractor's proposal, the Project Manager shall decide as soon as possible whether or not the amendment shall be carried out.

If the Project Manager decides that the amendment shall be carried out, it shall notify the Contractor through an administrative order stating that the Contractor shall carry out the amendment at the prices and under the conditions given in the Contractor's proposal or as modified by the Project Manager in agreement with the Contractor.

- c) On receipt of the administrative order, the Contractor shall carry out the amendments detailed in that administrative order as if such amendments were stated in the contract.
- d) For fee based contracts, administrative orders that have an impact on the contractual budget are limited to transfers within the fees, or transfers from the fees to the Incidental Expenditures, within the limits of Article 20.3.
- e) For global price contracts, administrative orders cannot have an impact on the contractual budget.
- 20.3. No amendment either by means of addendum or through administrative order shall lead to decreasing the amount within the contractual budget allocated to expenditure verification, or change the award conditions prevailing at the time the contract was awarded.

- 20.4. Any amendment carried out by the Contractor without an administrative order or without an addendum to the contract is not allowed and made at the Contractor's own financial risk.
- 20.5. Where an amendment is required by a default or breach of contract by the Contractor, any additional cost attributable to such amendment shall be borne by the Contractor.
- 20.6. The Contractor shall notify the Contracting Authority of any change of address and bank account using the form in Annex VI to notify any change in its bank account. The Contracting Authority shall have the right to oppose the Contractor's change of bank account. The Contractor shall notify the Contracting Authority of any change of auditor which the Contracting Authority needs to approve.

ARTICLE 21. WORKING HOURS

21.1. The days and hours of work of the Contractor or the Contractor's staff shall respect the laws, regulations and customs of the country where the services have to be rendered and the requirements of the services.

ARTICLE 22. LEAVE ENTITLEMENT

- 22.1. For fee-based contracts, the annual leave to be taken during the period of implementation of the tasks shall be at a time approved by the Project Manager.
- 22.2. For fee-based contracts, the fee rates are deemed to take into account the annual leave of up to 2 months for the Contractor's staff during the period of implementation of the tasks. Consequently, days taken as annual leave shall not be considered to be working days.
- 22.3. The Contractor shall only be paid for the days actually worked. Any cost related to sick or casual leave shall be covered by the Contractor. The Contractor shall inform the Project Manager of any impact of such leave on the period of implementation of the tasks.

ARTICLE 23. INFORMATION

- 23.1. The Contractor shall provide any information relating to the services and the project to the Project Manager, the European Commission, the European Court of Auditors or any person authorised by the Contracting Authority.
- 23.2. The Contractor shall allow the Project Manager or any person authorised by the Contracting Authority or the Contracting Authority itself to inspect or audit the records and accounts relating to the services and to make copies thereof both during and after provision of the services.

ARTICLE 24. RECORDS

- 24.1. The Contractor shall keep full accurate and systematic records and accounts in respect of the services in such form and detail as is sufficient to establish accurately that the number of working days and the actual incidental expenditure identified in the Contractor's invoice(s) have been duly incurred for the performance of the services.
- 24.2. For fee-based contracts, timesheets recording the days or hours worked by the Contractor's staff shall be maintained by the Contractor. The timesheets filled in by the experts shall be confirmed on a monthly basis by the Contractor and shall be approved by the Project Manager or any person authorised by the Contracting Authority or the Contracting authority itself. The amounts invoiced by the Contractor must correspond to these timesheets. Time spent travelling exclusively and necessarily for the purpose of the implementation of the contract, by the most direct route, may be included in the numbers of days or hours, as appropriate, recorded in these timesheets. Travel undertaken by the expert for mobilisation and demobilisation as well as for leave purposes shall not be considered as working days. A minimum of 7 hours worked are deemed to be equivalent to one day worked. For all experts, their time input shall be rounded to the nearest whole number of days worked for the purposes of invoicing.
- 24.3. Any records must be kept for a seven year period after the final payment made under the contract. These documents comprise any documentation concerning income and expenditure and any

inventory, necessary for the checking of supporting documents, including timesheets, plane and transport tickets, pay slips for the remuneration paid to the experts and invoices or receipts for incidental expenditure. In case of failure to maintain such records the Contracting Authority may, without formal notice thereof, apply as of right the sanction for breach of contract provided for in Articles 34 and 36.

ARTICLE 25. VERIFICATIONS, CHECKS AND AUDITS BY EUROPEAN UNION BODIES

- 25.1. The Contractor shall allow the European Commission, the European Anti-Fraud Office and the European Court of Auditors to verify, by examining the documents and to make copies thereof or by means of on-the-spot checks, including checks of documents (original or copies), the implementation of the contract. In order to carry out these verifications and audits, European Union bodies mentioned above shall be allowed to conduct a full audit, if necessary, on the basis of supporting documents for the accounts, accounting documents and any other document relevant to the financing of the contract. The Contractor shall ensure that on-the-spot accesses is available at all reasonable times, notably at the Contractor's offices, to its computer data, to its accounting data and to all the information needed to carry out the audits, including information on individual salaries of persons involved in the contract. The Contractor shall ensure that the information is readily available at the moment of the audit and, if so requested, that data be handed over in an appropriate form. These inspections may take place up to seven years after the final payment.
- 25.2. Furthermore, the Contractor shall allow the European Anti-Fraud Office to carry out checks and verification on the spot in accordance with the procedures set out in the European Union legislation for the protection of the financial interests of the European Union against fraud and other irregularities.
- 25.3. To this end, the Contractor undertakes to give appropriate access to staff or agents of the European Commission, of the European Anti-Fraud Office and of the European Court of Auditors to the sites and locations at which the contract is carried out, including its information systems, as well as all documents and databases concerning the technical and financial management of the project and to take all steps to facilitate their work. Access given to agents of the European Commission, European Anti-Fraud Office and the European Court of Auditors shall be on the basis of confidentiality with respect to third parties, without prejudice to the obligations of public law to which they are subject. Documents shall be easily accessible and filed so as to facilitate their examination. The Contractor shall inform the Contracting Authority of their precise location.
- 25.4. The Contractor guarantees that the rights of the European Commission, of the European Anti-Fraud Office and of the European Court of Auditors to carry out audits, checks and verification shall be equally applicable, under the same conditions and according to the same rules as those set out in this Article, to any subcontractor or any other party benefiting from EU budget/EDF funds.
- 25.5. Failure to comply with the obligations set forth in Article 25.1 to 25.4 constitutes a case of serious breach of contract.

ARTICLE 26. INTERIM AND FINAL REPORTS

- 26.1. Unless otherwise provided in the Terms of Reference, the Contractor shall draw up interim reports and a final report during the period of implementation of the tasks. These reports shall consist of a narrative section and a financial section. The format of such reports is as notified to the Contractor by the Project Manager during the period of implementation of the tasks.
- 26.2. All invoices must be accompanied by an interim or final report. All invoices for fee-based contracts must also be accompanied by an up to date financial report and an invoice for the actual costs of the expenditure verification. The structure of the interim or final financial report shall be the same as that of the contractually approved budget (Annex V). This financial report shall indicate, at a minimum, the expenditure of the reporting period, the cumulative expenditure and the balance available.

- 26.3. Immediately prior to the end of the period of implementation of the tasks, the Contractor shall draw up a final progress report together which must include, if appropriate, a critical study of any major problems which may have arisen during the performance of the contract.
- 26.4. This final progress report shall be forwarded to the Project Manager not later than 60 days after the end of the period of implementation of the tasks. Such report shall not bind the Contracting Authority.
- 26.5. Where the contract is performed in phases, the implementation of each phase shall give rise to the preparation of a final progress report by the Contractor.
- 26.6. Interim and final progress reports are covered by the provisions of Article 14.

ARTICLE 27. APPROVAL OF REPORTS AND DOCUMENTS

- 27.1. The approval by the Contracting Authority of reports and documents drawn up and forwarded by the Contractor shall certify that they comply with the terms of the contract.
- 27.2. Where a report or document is approved by the Contracting Authority subject to amendments to be made by the Contractor, the Contracting Authority shall prescribe a period for making the amendments requested.
- 27.3. Where the final progress report is not approved, the dispute settlement procedure is automatically invoked.
- 27.4. Where the contract is performed in phases, the implementation of each phase shall be subject to the approval, by the Contracting Authority, of the preceding phase except where the phases are carried out concurrently.
- 27.5. The Contracting Authority's time limit for accepting reports or documents shall be considered included in the time limit for payments indicated in Article 29, unless otherwise specified in the Special Conditions.

PAYMENTS & DEBT RECOVERY

ARTICLE 28. EXPENDITURE VERIFICATION

- 28.1. No expenditure verification report is required for global price contracts.
- 28.2. Before payments are made for fee-based contracts an external auditor must examine and verify the invoices and the financial reports sent by the Contractor to the Contracting Authority. The auditor shall meet the requirements set out in the Terms of Reference for expenditure verification and shall be approved by the Contracting Authority.
- 28.3. The auditor must satisfy itself that relevant, reliable and sufficient evidence exists that:
 - (a) the experts employed by the Contractor for the contract have been working as evidenced on the contract (as corroborated by independent, third-party evidence, where available) for the number of days claimed in the Contractor's invoices and in the financial reporting spreadsheet submitted with the interim progress reports; and
 - (b) the amounts claimed as incidental expenditure have actually and necessarily been incurred by the Contractor in accordance with the requirements of the terms of reference of the contract.

On the basis of its verification, the auditor submits to the Contractor an expenditure verification report in accordance with the model in Annex VII.

- 28.4. The Contractor grants the auditor all access rights mentioned in Article 25.
- 28.5. The Contracting Authority reserves the right to require that the auditor be replaced if considerations which were unknown when the contract was signed cast doubt on the auditor's independence or professional standards.

ARTICLE 29. PAYMENT AND INTEREST ON LATE PAYMENT

29.1. Payments will be made in accordance with one of the options below, as identified in the Special Conditions.

Option 1: Fee-based contract:

The Contracting Authority will make payments to the Contractor in the following manner:

- 1. A first payment of pre-financing, if requested by the Contractor, of an amount up to maximum 20% of the maximum contract value stated in point 2 of the contract, within 30 days of receipt by the Contracting Authority of an invoice, of the contract signed by both parties, and of a financial guarantee if requested, as defined in Article 30.
- 2. Six-monthly further interim payments, as indicated in the Special Conditions, within 60 days of the Contracting Authority receiving an invoice accompanied by an interim progress report and an expenditure verification report, subject to approval of those reports in accordance with Article 27. Such interim payments shall be of an amount equivalent to the costs incurred on the basis of the expenditure verification reports. When 80 % of the maximum contract value stated in point 2 of the contract has been paid (pre-financing and interim payments) the amounts due to the contractor shall be deducted from the pre-financing payment until it is completely reimbursed before any additional payment is made.
- 3. The invoices must be paid such that the sum of payments does not exceed 90% of the maximum contract value stated in point 2 of the contract; the 10% being the minimum final payment.
- 4. The balance of the final value of the contract after verification, subject to the maximum contract value stated in point 2 of the contract, after deduction of the amounts already paid, within 90 days of the Contracting Authority receiving a final invoice accompanied by the final progress report and a final expenditure verification report, subject to approval of those reports in accordance with Article 27.

Option 2: Global price contract:

If the contract is not divided between different outputs that the Contracting Authority can approve independently, or has a duration of less than two years, the Contracting Authority will make payments to the Contractor in the following manner:

- 1. a pre-financing payment if requested by the Contractor, of an amount up to 40% of the contract value stated in point 2 of the contract within 30 days of receipt by the Contracting Authority of an invoice, of the contract signed by both parties, and of a financial guarantee if requested, as defined in Article 30;
- 2. the balance of the contract value stated in point 2 of the contract within 90 days of the Contracting Authority receiving a final invoice accompanied by the final progress report, subject to approval of that report in accordance with Article 27.

If the contract has a duration of at least two years and if the budget is divided between different outputs that the Contracting Authority can approve independently, the Contracting Authority will make payments to the Contractor in the following manner:

- 1. a pre-financing payment if requested by the Contractor, of an amount up to 40% of the contract value stated in point 2 of the contract within 30 days of receipt by the Contracting Authority of an invoice, of the contract signed by both parties, and of a financial guarantee if requested, as defined in Article 30;
- 2. one interim payment at the end of each 12 months of implementation of the contract, of an amount corresponding to the outputs delivered, within 60 days of the

- Contracting Authority receiving an invoice accompanied by an interim progress report, subject to approval of this report in accordance with Article 27;
- 3. The invoices must be paid such that the sum of payments does not exceed 90% of the maximum contract value stated in point 2 of the contract; the 10% being the minimum final payment.
- 4. the balance of the contract value stated in point 2 of the contract within 90 days of the Contracting Authority receiving a final invoice accompanied by the final progress report, subject to approval of that report in accordance with Article 27.
- 29.2. The date of payment shall be the date on which the paying account is debited. The invoice shall not be admissible if one or more essential requirements are not met. Without prejudice to Article 36.2, the Contracting Authority may halt the countdown towards this deadline for any part of the invoiced amount disputed by the Project Manager by notifying the Contractor that part of the invoice is inadmissible, either because the amount in question is not due or because the relevant report cannot be approved and the Contracting Authority thinks it necessary to conduct further checks. In such cases, the Contracting Authority shall not unreasonably withhold any undisputed part of the invoiced amount but may request clarification, alteration or additional information, which shall be produced within 30 days of the request. The countdown towards the deadline shall resume on the date on which a correctly formulated invoice is received by the Contracting Authority. If part of the invoice is disputed, the undisputed amount of the invoice shall not be withheld and must be paid according to the payment schedule set in Article 29.1.
- 29.3. Once the deadline referred to above has expired, the Contractor unless it is a government department or public body in an EU Member State shall, within two months of receiving late payment, receive default interest:
 - at the rate applied by the European Central Bank to its main refinancing transactions in euro, as published in the Official Journal of the European Union, C series, where payments are in euro,
 - at the rediscount rate applied by the central bank of the country of the Contracting Authority if payments are in the currency of that country,

on the first day of the month in which the time-limit expired, plus eight percentage points. The interest be payable for the time elapses between the expiry of the payment deadline (exclusive) and the date on which the Contracting Authority's account is debited (inclusive).

By way of exception, when the interest calculated in accordance with the first subparagraph is lower than or equal to EUR 200, it shall be paid to the creditor only upon a demand submitted within two months of receiving late payment.

- 29.4. Payments due by the Contracting Authority shall be made into the bank account mentioned on the financial identification form completed by the Contractor. A new financial identification form must be used to report any change of bank account and must be attached to the invoice.
- 29.5. Payments shall be made in euro or in the national currency as specified in the Special Conditions. The Special Conditions shall lay down the administrative or technical conditions governing payments of pre-financing, interim and/or final payments made in accordance with the General Conditions. Where payment is in euro, for the purposes of the Provision for incidental expenditure, actual expenditure shall be converted into euro at the rate published on the Infor-Euro on the first working day of the month in which the invoice is dated. Where payment is in the national currency, it shall be converted into the national currency at the rate published on the Infor-Euro on the first working day of the month in which the payment is made.
- 29.6. For fee-based contracts, invoices shall be accompanied by copies of, or extracts from, the corresponding approved timesheets referred to in Article 24.2 to verify the amount invoiced for the time input of the experts. A minimum of 7 hours worked are deemed to be equivalent to one day

- worked. For all experts, their time input must be rounded to the nearest whole number of days worked for the purposes of invoicing.
- 29.7. Payment of the final balance shall be subject to performance by the Contractor of all its obligations relating to the implementation of all phases or parts of the services and to the approval by the Contracting Authority of the final phase or part of the services. Final payment shall be made only after the final progress report and a final statement, identified as such, shall have been submitted by the Contractor and approved as satisfactory by the Contracting Authority.
- 29.8. The payment obligations of the European Commission under the contract shall cease at most 18 months after the end of the period of implementation of the tasks, unless the contract is terminated in accordance with these General Conditions.
- 29.9. Prior to, or instead of, terminating the contract as provided for in Article 36, the Contracting Authority may suspend payments as a precautionary measure without prior notice.
- 29.10. Where the award procedure or the performance of the contract proves to have been subject to substantial errors, irregularities or fraud attributable to the Contractor, the Contracting Authority may in addition to the possibility to suspend the performance of the contract in accordance with Article 35.2 and terminate the contract as provided for in Article 36, refuse to make payments and/or recover amounts already paid, in proportion to the seriousness of the errors irregularities or fraud.
- 29.11. If the contract is terminated for any reason whatsoever, the guarantee securing the pre-financing may be invoked forthwith in order to repay the balance of the pre-financing still owed by the Contractor, and the guarantor shall not delay payment or raise objection for any reason whatever.

ARTICLE 30. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

- 30.1. Unless otherwise provided for in the Special Conditions, the Contractor shall provide a financial guarantee for the full amount of the pre-financing payment. The financial guarantee shall be in the format provided for in the contract and may be provided in the form of a bank guarantee, a banker's draft, a certified cheque, a bond provided by an insurance and/or bonding company, an irrevocable letter of credit or a cash deposit made with the Contracting Authority. If the financial guarantee is to be provided in the form of a bank guarantee, a banker's draft, a certified cheque or a bond, it shall be issued by a bank or bonding and/or insurance company approved by the Contracting Authority. This financial guarantee shall remain valid until it is released by the Contractor is a public body the obligation for a financial guarantee may be waived depending on a risk assessment made.
- 30.2. The financial guarantee shall be provided on the letterhead of the financial institution using the template provided in Annex VI.
- 30.3. Should the financial guarantee cease to be valid and the Contractor fail to re-validate it, either a deduction equal to the amount of the pre-financing may be made by the Contracting Authority from future payments due to the Contractor under the contract, or the Contracting Authority shall give formal notice to the Contractor to provide a new guarantee on the same terms as the previous one. Should the Contractor fail to provide a new guarantee, the Contracting Authority may terminate the contract.
- 30.4. If the contract is terminated for any reason whatsoever, the financial guarantee may be invoked forthwith in order to repay any balance still owed to the Contracting Authority by the Contractor, and the guarantor shall not delay payment or raise objection for any reason whatsoever.
- 30.5. For fee-based contracts, the financial guarantee shall be released when the prefinancing is reimbursed in accordance with Article 29.1.
- 30.6. For global price contracts, (i) if the contract is not divided between different outputs that the Contracting Authority can approve independently, or has a duration of less than two years, the financial guarantee shall remain in force until the final payment has been made, and (ii) if the contract has a duration of at least two years and if the budget is divided between different outputs

that the Contracting Authority can approve independently, the financial guarantee shall be released when the prefinancing is reimbursed in accordance with Article 29.1.

ARTICLE 31. RECOVERY OF DEBTS FROM THE CONTRACTOR

- 31.1. The Contractor undertakes to repay any amounts paid in excess of the final amount due to the Contracting Authority before the deadline indicated in the debit note which is 45 days from the issuing of that note.
- 31.2. Should the Contractor fail to make repayment within the above deadline; the Contracting Authority may (unless the Contractor is a government department or public body of an EU Member State) increase the amounts due by adding interest:
 - (a) at the rediscount rate applied by the central bank of the country of the Contracting Authority if payments are in the currency of that country,
 - (b) at the rate applied by the European Central Bank to its main refinancing transactions in euro, as published in the Official Journal of the European Union, C series, where payments are in euro,

on the first day of the month in which the time-limit expired, plus eight percentage points. The default interest shall be incurred over the time which elapses between the date of the payment deadline, and the date on which the payment is actually made. Any partial payments shall first cover the interest thus established.

- 31.3. Amounts to be repaid to the Contracting Authority may be offset against amounts of any kind due to the Contractor. This shall not affect the party's right to agree on payment in installments.
- 31.4. Bank charges arising from the repayment of amounts due to the Contracting Authority shall be borne entirely by the Contractor.
- 31.5. Without prejudice to the prerogative of the Contracting Authority, if necessary, the European Union may as a donor proceed itself to the recovery by any means.

ARTICLE 32. REVISION OF PRICES

32.1. The contract shall be at fixed prices, which shall not be revised.

ARTICLE 33. PAYMENT TO THIRD PARTIES

- 33.1. Orders for payments to third parties may be carried out only after an assignment made in accordance with Article 3. The assignment shall be notified to the Contracting Authority.
- 33.2. Notification of beneficiaries of the assignment shall be the sole responsibility of the Contractor.
- 33.3. In the event of a legally binding attachment of the property of the Contractor affecting payments due to it under the contract and without prejudice to the time limit laid down in Article 29, the Contracting Authority shall have 30 days, starting from the day when it receives notification of the definitive lifting of the obstacle to payment, to resume payments to the Contractor.

BREACH OF CONTRACT, SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION

ARTICLE 34. BREACH OF CONTRACT

- 34.1. Either party commits a breach of contract where it fails to perform its obligations in accordance with the provisions of the contract.
- 34.2. Where a breach of contract occurs, the party injured by the breach is entitled to the following remedies:
 - a) damages; and/or

- b) termination of the contract.
- 34.3. Damages may be either:
 - a) general damages; or
 - b) liquidated damages.
- 34.4. Should the Contractor fail to perform any of its obligations in accordance with the provisions of the contract, the Contracting Authority is without prejudice to its right under article 34.2, also entitled to the following remedies;
 - a) suspension of payments; and/or
 - b) reduction or recovery of payments in proportion to the failure's extent.
- 34.5. Where the Contracting Authority is entitled to damages, it may deduct such damages from any sums due to the Contractor or call on the appropriate guarantee.
- 34.6. The Contracting Authority shall be entitled to compensation for any damage which comes to light after the contract is completed in accordance with the law governing the contract.

ARTICLE 35. SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT

- 35.1. The Contractor shall, on the order of the Contracting Authority, suspend the execution of the contract or any part thereof for such time or times and in such manner as the Contracting Authority may consider necessary. The suspension shall take effect on the day the Contractor receives the order or at a later date when the order so provides.
- 35.2. Suspension of the contract in the event of presumed substantial errors or irregularities or fraud: The contract may be suspended in order to verify whether presumed substantial errors or irregularities or fraud occurred during the award procedure or the performance of the contract. If these are not confirmed, performance of the contract shall resume as soon as possible.
- 35.3. During the period of suspension, the Contractor shall take such protective measures as may be necessary.
- 35.4. Additional expenses incurred in connection with such protective measures may be added to the contract price, unless:
 - a) otherwise provided for in the contract; or
 - b) such suspension is necessary by reason of some breach or default of the Contractor; or
 - c) the presumed substantial errors or irregularities or fraud mentioned in article 35.2 are confirmed and attributable to the Contractor.
- 35.5. The Contractor shall only be entitled to such additions to the contract price if it notifies the Project Manager, within 30 days after receipt of the order to suspend execution of the contract, of its intention to claim them.
- 35.6. The Contracting Authority, after consulting the Contractor, shall determine such additions to the contract price and/or extension of the period of performance to be granted to the Contractor in respect of such claim as shall, in the opinion of the Contracting Authority be fair and reasonable.
- 35.7. The Contracting Authority shall, as soon as possible, order the Contractor to resume the contract suspended or inform the Contractor that it terminates the contract. If the period of suspension exceeds 90 days and the suspension is not due to the Contractor's breach or default, the Contractor may, by notice to the Contracting Authority, request to proceed with the contract within 30 days, or terminate the contract.

ARTICLE 36. TERMINATION BY THE CONTRACTING AUTHORITY

36.1. The Contracting Authority may, at any time and with immediate effect, subject to Article 36.8, terminate the contract, except as provided for under Article 36.2.

- 36.2. Subject to any other provision of these General Conditions the Contracting Authority may, by giving seven days' notice to the Contractor, terminate the contract in any of the following cases where:
 - (a) the Contractor is in serious breach of contract for failure to perform its contractual obligations;
 - (b) the Contractor fails to comply within a reasonable time with the notice given by the Project Manager requiring it to make good the neglect or failure to perform its obligations under the contract which seriously affects the proper and timely performance of the services;
 - (c) the Contractor refuses or neglects to carry out any administrative orders given by the Project Manager;
 - (d) the Contractor assigns the contract or subcontracts without the authorisation of the Contracting Authority;
 - (e) the Contractor is bankrupt, subject to insolvency or winding up procedures, is having its assets administered by a liquidator or by the courts, has entered into an arrangement with creditors, has suspended business activities, or is in any analogous situation arising from a similar procedure provided for under any national law or regulations relevant to that Contractor;
 - (f) any organisational modification occurs involving a change in the legal personality, nature or control of the Contractor, unless such modification is recorded in an addendum to the contract;
 - (g) any other legal disability hindering performance of the contract occurs;
 - (h) the Contractor fails to provide the required guarantees or insurance, or the person providing the earlier guarantee or insurance is not able to abide by its commitments;
 - (i) the Contractor has been guilty of grave professional misconduct proven by any means which the Contracting Authority can justify;
 - (j) it has been established by a final judgment or a final administrative decision or by proof in possession of the Contracting Authority that the Contractor has been guilty of fraud, corruption, involvement in a criminal organisation, money laundering or terrorist financing, terrorist related offences, child labour or other forms of trafficking in human beings or has committed an irregularity;
 - (k) the Contractor, in the performance of another contract financed by the EU budget/EDF funds, has been declared to be in serious breach of contract, which has led to its early termination or the application of liquidated damages or other contractual penalties or which has been discovered following checks, audits or investigations by the European Commission, the Contracting Authority, OLAF or the Court of Auditors;
 - (l) after the award of the contract, the award procedure or the performance of the contract proves to have been subject to substantial errors, irregularities or fraud;
 - (m) the award procedure or the performance of another contract financed by the EU budget/EDF funds proves to have been subject to substantial errors, irregularities or fraud which are likely to affect the performance of the present contract;
 - (n) the Contractor fails to perform its obligation in accordance with Article 8 and Article 9;
 - (o) the Contractor is unable to provide a suitable replacement to an expert, the absence of which affects the proper performance of the contract.

The cases of termination under points (e), (i), (j), (l), (m) and (n) may refer also to persons who are members of the administrative, management or supervisory body of the Contractor and/or to persons having powers of representation, decision or control with regard to the Contractor.

The cases of termination under points (a), (e), (f), (g), (i), (j), (k), (l), (m) and (n) may refer also to persons jointly and severally liable for the performance of the contract.

The cases under points (e), (i), (j), (k), (l), (m) and (n) may refer also to subcontractors.

- 36.3. Termination shall be without prejudice to any other rights or powers under the contract of the Contracting Authority and the Contractor. The Contracting Authority may, thereafter, complete the services itself, or conclude any other contract with a third party, at the Contractor's own expense. The Contractor's liability for delay in completion shall immediately cease when the Contracting Authority terminates the contract without prejudice to any liability thereunder that may already have arisen.
- 36.4. Upon termination of the contract or when it has received notice thereof, the Contractor shall take immediate steps to bring the services to a close in a prompt and orderly manner and to reduce expenditure to a minimum.
- 36.5. The Project Manager shall, as soon as possible after termination, certify the value of the services and all sums due to the Contractor as at the date of termination.
- 36.6. The Contracting Authority shall not be obliged to make any further payments to the Contractor until the services are completed. After the services are completed, the Contracting Authority shall recover from the Contractor the extra costs, if any, of completing the services, or shall pay any balance still due to the Contractor.
- 36.7. If the Contracting Authority terminates the contract pursuant to Article 36.2, it shall, in addition to the extra costs for completion of the contract and without prejudice to its other remedies under the contract, be entitled to recover from the Contractor any loss it has suffered up to the value of the services which have not been satisfactorily completed unless otherwise provided for in the Special Conditions.
- 36.8. Where the termination is not due to an act or omission of the Contractor, force majeure or other circumstances beyond the control of the Contracting Authority, the Contractor shall be entitled to claim in addition to sums owed to it for work already performed, an indemnity for loss suffered.
- 36.9. This contract shall be automatically terminated if it has not given rise to any payment in the two years following its signing by both parties.

ARTICLE 37. TERMINATION BY THE CONTRACTOR

- 37.1. The Contractor may, after giving 14 days' notice to the Contracting Authority, terminate the contract if the Contracting Authority:
 - a) fails for more than 120 days to pay the Contractor the amounts due after the expiry of the time limit stated in Article 29; or
 - b) consistently fails to meet its obligations after repeated reminders; or
 - c) suspends the progress of the services or any part thereof for more than 90 days for reasons not specified in the contract, or not attributable to the Contractor's breach or default.
- 37.2. Such termination shall be without prejudice to any other rights of the Contracting Authority or the Contractor acquired under the contract.
- 37.3. In the event of such termination, the Contracting Authority shall pay the Contractor for any loss or damage the Contractor may have suffered. Such additional payment must not be such that the total payments exceed the amount specified in Article 2 of the contract.

ARTICLE 38. FORCE MAJEURE

- 38.1. Neither party shall be considered to be in default or in breach of its obligations under the contract if the performance of such obligations is prevented by any circumstances of *force majeure* which arise after the date of notification of award or the date when the contract becomes effective.
- 38.2. The term *force majeure*, as used herein covers any unforeseeable events, not within the control of either party and which by the exercise of due diligence neither party is able to overcome such as acts of God, strikes, lock-outs or other industrial disturbances, acts of the public enemy, wars whether declared or not, blockades, insurrection, riots, epidemics, landslides, earthquakes, storms,

- lightning, floods, washouts, civil disturbances, explosions. A decision of the European Union to suspend the cooperation with the partner country is considered to be a case of force majeure when it implies suspension of funding the contract.
- 38.3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 19 and Article 36, the Contractor shall not be liable for liquidated damages or termination for breach or default if, and to the extent that, its delay in performance or other failure to perform its obligations under the contract is the result of an event of *force majeure*. The Contracting Authority shall similarly not be liable, notwithstanding the provisions of Article 29 and Article 37, for payment of interest on delayed payments, for non-performance or for termination by the Contractor for breach or default, if, and to the extent that, the Contracting Authority's delay or other failure to perform its obligations is the result of *force majeure*.
- 38.4. If either party considers that any circumstances of force majeure have occurred which may affect performance of its obligations it shall promptly notify the other party and the Project Manager giving details of the nature, the probable duration and the likely effect of the circumstances. Unless otherwise directed by the Project Manager in writing, the Contractor shall continue to perform its obligations under the contract as far as is reasonably practicable, and shall seek all reasonable alternative means for performance of its obligations which are not prevented by the force majeure event. The Contractor shall not put into effect such alternative means unless directed so to do by the Project Manager.
- 38.5. For a fee-based contract, if the Contractor incurs additional costs in complying with the Project Manager's directions or using alternative means under Article 38.4 the amount thereof shall be certified by the Project Manager.
- 38.6. If circumstances of *force majeure* have occurred and continue for a period of 180 days then, notwithstanding any extension of time for completion of the contract that the Contractor may by reason thereof have been granted, either party shall be entitled to serve upon the other 30 days' notice to terminate the contract. If at the expiry of the period of 30 days the situation of *force majeure* persists, the contract shall be terminated and, in consequence thereof under the law governing the contract, the parties shall be released from further performance of the contract.

ARTICLE 39. DECEASE

- 39.1. If the Contractor is a natural person, the contract shall be automatically terminated if that person dies. However, the Contracting Authority shall examine any proposal made by its heirs or beneficiaries if they have notified their wish to continue the contract.
- 39.2. Where the Contractor consists of a number of natural persons and one or more of them die, a report shall be agreed between the parties on the progress of the contract and the Contracting Authority shall decide whether to terminate or continue the contract in accordance with the undertaking given by the survivors and by the heirs or beneficiaries, as the case may be.
- 39.3. In the cases provided for in Articles 39.1 and 39.2, persons offering to continue to implement the contract shall notify the Contracting Authority thereof within 15 days of the date of decease. The decision of the Contracting Authority shall be notified to those concerned within 30 days of receipt of such a proposal
- 39.4. Such persons shall be jointly and severally liable for the proper implementation of the contract to the same extent as the deceased Contractor. Continuation of the contract shall be subject to the rules relating to establishment of any guarantee provided for in the contract.

SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES AND APPLICABLE LAW

ARTICLE 40. SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES

40.1. The parties shall make every effort to settle amicably any dispute relating to the contract which may arise between them.

- 40.2. Once a dispute has arisen, a party shall notify the other party of the dispute, stating its position on the dispute and any solution which it envisages, and requesting an amicable settlement. The other party shall respond to this request for amicable settlement within 30 days, stating its position on the dispute. Unless the parties agree otherwise, the maximum time period laid down for reaching an amicable settlement shall be 120 days from the date of the notification requesting such a procedure. Should a party not agree to the other party's request for amicable settlement, should a party not respond in time to that request or should no amicable settlement be reached within the maximum time period, the amicable settlement procedure is considered to have failed.
- 40.3. In the absence of an amicable settlement, a party may notify the other party requesting a settlement through conciliation by a third person. If the European Commission is not a party to the contract, it may accept to intervene as conciliator. The other party shall respond to the request for conciliation within 30 days. Unless the parties agree otherwise, the maximum time period laid down for reaching a settlement through conciliation shall be 120 days from the notification requesting such a procedure. Should a party not agree to the other party's request for conciliation, should a party not respond in time to that request or should no settlement be reached within the maximum time period, the conciliation procedure is considered to have failed.
- 40.4. If the amicable settlement procedure and, if so requested, the conciliation procedure fails, each party may refer the dispute to either the decision of a national jurisdiction or arbitration, as specified in the Special Conditions.

ARTICLE 41. APPLICABLE LAW

41.1. This contract shall be governed by the law of the country of the Contracting Authority or, where the Contracting Authority is the European Commission, by the European Union law supplemented as appropriate by Belgian law.

DATA PROTECTION

ARTICLE 42. DATA PROTECTION

- 42.1. Any personal data included in the contract shall be processed pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data by the Community institutions and bodies and on the free movement of such data. The data shall be processed solely for the purposes of the performance, management and monitoring of the contract by the Contracting Authority without prejudice to possible transmission to the bodies charged with monitoring or inspection in application of EU law. The Contractor shall have the right to access his/her personal data and to rectify any such data. Should the Contractor have any queries concerning the processing of his/her personal data, s/he shall address them to the Contracting Authority. The Contractor shall have right of recourse at any time to the European Data Protection Supervisor.
- 42.2. Where the contract requires processing personal data, the Contractor may act only under the supervision of the data controller, in particular with regard to the purposes of processing, the categories of data which may be processed, the recipients of the data, and the means by which the data subject may exercise his/her rights.
- 42.3. The data shall be confidential within the meaning of Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data by Community institutions and bodies and on the free movement of such data. The Contractor shall limit access to the data to staff strictly needed to perform, manage and monitor the contract.
- 42.4. The Contractor undertakes to adopt technical and organisational security measures to address the risks inherent in processing and in the nature of the personal data concerned in order to:
 - a) prevent any unauthorised person from having access to computer systems processing personal data, and especially:

- aa) unauthorised reading, copying, alteration or removal of storage media;
- ab) unauthorised data input, unauthorised disclosure, alteration or erasure of stored personal data;
- ac) unauthorised persons from using data-processing systems by means of data transmission facilities;
- b) ensure that authorised users of a data-processing system can access only the personal data to which their access right refers;
- c) record which personal data have been communicated, when and to whom;
- d) ensure that personal data processed on behalf of third parties can be processed only in the manner prescribed by the contracting institution or body;
- e) ensure that, during communication of personal data and transport of storage media, the data cannot be read, copied or erased without authorisation;
- f) design its organisational structure in such a way that it meets data protection requirements.

* * *





ANNEX B II. TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE PROVISION OF

ReSPA TRAVEL SERVICES

I. BACKGROUND

ReSPA is an international organization set-up as a joint initiative of European Union and the Western Balkan countries working towards fostering and strengthening the regional cooperation in public administration, human resource management and civil service reform among its Member States. It seeks to offer high quality, innovative and creative training events, networking activities, capacity building and consulting services to ensure that the shared values of respect, tolerance, collaboration and integration are reaffirmed and implemented throughout the public administrations in the region. It is located in Danilovgrad, Montenegro. The foregoing is a summary of the objectives of ReSPA:

- a) To improve regional cooperation in the field of public administration reform;
- b) To support development of human resources management in line with the European Administrative Space;
- c) To promote regional professional networks both within the region and beyond;
- d) To contribute to the strengthening of administrative capacities of ReSPA Member States as required by the European integration process.

II. OVERALL CONTRACT DESCRIPTION

The contract aims to provide elaborated travel services to the ReSPA in regard to flight tickets and other means of transportation related to conferences, seminars, working group meetings and other events in non-EU and EU countries. These terms of references encompass two types of services:

- a) Air Travel Services
- b) Land Travel Services within Montenegro

III. GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE REQUIRED SERVICES

ReSPS requires an experienced company (ies) (in the following text named as a contractor) to make travel arrangements as required, for ReSPA's event(s) participants (in the following text named as **traveller(s)**) travelling within and/or among ReSPA members countries and across Europe. ReSPA's offices are established in Danilovgrad, Montenegro.

The travellers of ReSPA are <u>public administration officials from ReSPA member countries</u>. In term of an event, the departure point for each traveller differs while the arrival point is mutual for all. The





Contractor shall organise in that matter as many different arrangements as the travellers are nominated for the certain event.

ReSPA uses the term "Activity and/or Activity Number" (hereinafter "Activity" to describe an authorized trip of traveller(s). Each activity has a specific activity reference number provided by the ReSPA.

Travel arrangements will be made on the basis of the most convenient trip (shortest schedule possible in terms of the time schedule from departure to destination and return back) at the best possible price to ReSPA, according to the provisions mentioned below.

It is the Contractor's task to advise the traveller on the most suitable travel option for the Activity and where applicable, to explain the appropriate options to the traveller. Once the names of travellers of ReSPA's event/activity are sent by ReSPA and received by the Contractor the communication shall remain among the traveller and the Contractor.

IV. DETAILED REQUIREMENTS

Valid for all missions, services and provisions: ReSPA remains the owner of data collected, including any and all personal data related to a mission. Data is treated by the contractor as confidential and personal data is treated in line with the requirements of Directive 95/46/EC as transposed to the respective Member State of ReSPA.

Response to fare inquiries should be provided by e-mail within one (1) working day from the original inquiry at which time ReSPA traveller should receive routing options if available, and relevant cost quotations. In exceptional cases ReSPA traveller may ask Contractor to provide a response within a shorter period of time, therefore the Contractor shall be able to respond within a period of time as short as 1 hour.

ReSPA expects all air ticketing provided to travellers to be electronic. Other types of tickets, e.g. rail, etc., can be delivered as appropriate in either paper or electronic form. Preference is given to electronic ticketing when available or applicable (lower costs incurred).

The ability of the Contractor to provide shorter response times than the ones mentioned above as well as the ability of the Contractor to provide adequate option time (deadline for issuing a ticket) will be considered advantageous in the evaluation of tenders.

The ReSPA Secretariat intends to outsource air travel ticketing services and land travel services for Montenegro for the period ending 30 November 2018. ReSPA requires that air travel arrangements in respect of its officials and non-ReSPA officials requiring air transport in the interest of ReSPA be





made by the travel company with due consideration of the following:

The successful travel agent(s) shall provide full, prompt, accurate and expert international and domestic travel products and services to ReSPA Staff and other travelers authorized/accredited by the ReSPA Secretariat, in accordance with the ReSPA policies, procedures and guidelines.

The below table shows, an indicative volume of ReSPA activities per location of the event, which will be undertaken during the period from May until December 2018.

Country	No. of Activities
ReSPA, Montenegro	4
Budva, Montenegro	1
Marrakech, Morocco	1
Tirana, Albania	2
Skopje, Macedonia	3
Belgrade, Serbia	3
Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina	1
Lasi, Romania	1
Pristina, Kosovo*	1
Mostar, Bosnia and Herzegovina	1
Brussels, Belgium	1

Please note that the above figures are indicative only and have no contractual value. The actual volume of services may vary depending on the needs of ReSPA. The above table does not include all travel requirements for the activity in regards to Comparative Study.

The maximum contract volume over its total possible duration, is estimated at 70.630,00 EURO. Total projected number of travelers for the period is 240.

The products and services required by ReSPA include, but not limited to, the following:

i. Reservation and Ticketing

a) For every duly approved ReSPA Travel Authorization, contractor shall immediately make bookings on up to three (3) main airlines operating the route and prepare appropriate





itineraries and formal quotations based on the lowest fare and the most direct and convenient routing

- b) In the event that required travel arrangements cannot be confirmed, contractor shall notify the requesting party of the problem and present up to three (3) alternative routings/quotations for consideration;
- c) For wait-listed bookings, contractor shall provide regular daily feedback on the status of the flight;
- d) Contractor shall promptly issue and deliver accurately printed/electronic tickets and detailed itineraries, (in printed and electronic format) showing the accurate status of the airline and hotel reservations (for stopovers) on all segments of the journey;
- e) Contractor shall accurately advise ReSPA of ticketing deadlines and other relevant information every time reservations are made, in order to avoid cancellations of bookings; and
- f) Contractor will issue and deliver accurately printed/electronic tickets only after obtaining signed Purchase Order from the responsible person from ReSPA. Purchase order will list the names of travelers, routing and dates, individual and total amount of all tickets.
- g) Contractor will deliver land travel services within Montenegro only after obtaining a signed Purchase Order by responsible person from ReSPA. Purchase order will list the names of travelers, number of cars, routing and dates, individual and total amount of service to be purchased
- h) ReSPA may use land travel services within Montenegro from other service providers and entities, in case of increased convenience, economy or efficiency.

ii. Airfares and Airline Routings/Itineraries

The ticket quotation should clearly mention the following:

- a) price guotes with reference to the final date of issue (option date);
- b) Action reference number (to be communicated by ReSPA staff);
- c) Itinerary (detailed flight/train/ hours of departure and arrival);
- d) Ticket class economy by default;
- e) Baggage allowance unless requested otherwise, all within EU travel shall have a minimum of 20kg allowance;
- f) Information on ticket flexibility and related costs regarding possible changes or cancellation;
- g) A detailed breakdown of the final cost (e.g. fare cost, service fee applied from airlines companies, transaction fee applied from Contractor etc.);
- h) Propose fares/airline routings and guarantee that it shall obtain the lowest available airfare for the journey concerned. Such journeys shall be the most direct and economical routing, unless travel time exceeds 8 hours in duration with a maximum 3 hours break between flight segments;
- i) Ensure that tickets issued are in accordance with entitlements prescribed in the Travel Authorization;





- j) Assist ReSPA in negotiating with airlines on preferred carrier fares for ReSPA, (and load such fares in the contractor's Computerized Reservation System for use in auto-ticketing);
- k) Assist RESPA in negotiating with airlines preferred fare conditions for RESPA, such as ticketing deadlines to be as flexible as possible (i.e. until the date of commencement of particular travel); and
- Advise market practices and trends that could result in further savings for RESPA, including the use of corporate travel booking tools with automated travel policy compliance and enforcement, and travel management reporting.

iii. Travel Information / Advisories

Travel agent shall:

- a) Inform ReSPA staff, upon booking confirmation, of flight/ticket restrictions, involuntary stopovers, hidden stops, and other possible inconveniences of the itinerary and provide required documentation for travels;
- b) Provide ReSPA staff with online and offline relevant information on official destinations, i.e., visa requirements¹, security advisories, airport transfers/land transportation facilities, local points of interest, currency restrictions/regulations, health advisories, weather conditions, etc.;
- c) Endeavor to notify ReSPA staff of airport closures delayed or canceled flights, security procedures, health precautions, as well as other changes that will affect or will require preparations from the travelers, sufficiently before departure time; and
- d) Quick reference for the requested destination.

iv. Transfers from/to airports

Contractor will offer options which are non-obligatory to be used by ReSPA for the following additional services:

- a) Arrange and organize car/taxi or mini-bus/ bus transfers for travels.
- b) Organize reservation/ purchase of train/ bus/ ship tickets, as may be necessary.

v. Flight Cancellations / Rebooking and Refunds

Travel agency shall:

a)

- a) Process duly authorized flight changes/ cancellations when and as required and taking care that in such cases, cancellation fees and charges imposed by the airlines are avoided.
- b) Immediately process airline refunds for cancelled travel requirements/ unutilized pre-paid tickets and credit these to RESPA as expeditiously as possible;
- c) Limit refund charges at airline rates only, i.e., no additional charges will accrue to the travel agency

¹ It is a general rule that the traveler arranges own visas and secures travel preconditions, and only in exceptional cases the contractor may be asked for an informative assistance in this regard, and taking into consideration the overall experience of the Contractor in travel arrangements





- d) Absorb all cancellation and/or change reservation date charges which are due to no fault of ReSPA or the Traveler, and
- e) Report back to ReSPA on the status of ticket refunds.

vi. Availability of Other Products and Services As May Be Requested

Contractor, where applicable and upon request of the travelers, shall provide other services including, but not limited to, the following:

- a) Preferred Seating Arrangements / Upgrades
- b) Privileged Check-in Services / Use of Airline Lounges Facilities
- c) Hotel reservations / Accommodations
- d) Excess Baggage / Lost Baggage / Baggage Insurance
- e) Ground Transportation (bus/train reservations and tickets)

vii. Issuing tickets for ReSPA travellers

Response to fare inquiries should be provided by e-mail within one (1) working day from the original inquiry at which time ReSPA traveller should receive routing options if available, and relevant cost quotations. In exceptional cases ReSPA traveller may ask Contractor to provide a response within a shorter period of time, therefore the Contractor shall be able to respond within a period of time as short as 1 hour.

ReSPA expects all air ticketing provided to travellers to be electronic. Other types of tickets, e.g. rail, etc., can be delivered as appropriate in either paper or electronic form. Preference is given to electronic ticketing when available or applicable (lower costs incurred).

The ability of the Contractor to provide shorter response times than the ones mentioned above as well as the ability of the Contractor to provide adequate option time (deadline for issuing ticket) will be considered advantageous in the evaluation of tenders.

It is expected that adequate emphasis is laid on the feasibility of the proposed transport options. In particular, connection flights should be quoted in such a way to allow sufficient time for boarding, taking into account the specificities of airports, city traffic conditions etc.

The travel tickets shall be normally delivered electronically. In the rare circumstances of paper tickets additional advice shall be asked from ReSPA on the manner and place of their delivery (rail, etc.). No additional charge should be made for this delivery service.

The travel tickets and accompanying documentation shall contain information on:

- a) Name of the person on a mission;
- b) Complete itinerary;
- c) Ticket class;





- d) Fare and tax details, including fare calculation details and additional data such as flight codes:
- e) Fare restrictions, change or refund permissions;
- f) Baggage allowance;
- g) Carriage terms and conditions;
- h) Other relevant information;

The Contractor must establish from ReSPA traveller concerned whether any part of the trip is for private purposes, prior to acceptance of every order. Under no circumstances may the private proportion of a trip be invoiced to ReSPA.

viii. Web check-in

Upon request, the Contractor shall provide to the persons on mission assistance in making the web check-in² for the flight tickets or if requested the Contractor will make the web check-in on behalf of the person on a mission. In the latter case, the Contractor should send electronically the boarding passes to the person on a mission.

ix. Land travel – transfers from and to the Podgorica Airport

Once is confirmed that the traveler has obtained air ticket, the Contractor is obliged to provide transfer from Podgorica Airport to ReSPA and back. This transfer in limited circumstances may be requested for other destinations, which will be timely communicated with the Contractor.

Contractor is required to provide agency car transfer, compliant with the participant flight schedule of flight arrivals and departures. One car should be used for maximum of 3 participants, while in all cases efficient manner of transfer should be applied to satisfy this requirement. Agency car should provide travelers commodity and security during transfer, which should be arranged using fully operational and regularly maintained vehicles, which are not older than 8 years.

For arrivals at the Podgorica airport, agency car should be on the spot at the time of landing, with clearly market label containing the name and surname of participants.

For departures agency vehicle should be at ReSPA 2 hours before the flight departure.

Contractor should provide telephone contact of designated driver/s and should provide 24/7 emergency support in this regard.

Cancellations

_

² Web Check-in lets selection of preferred seat and avail e-Boarding Pass. The e-Boarding Pass is usually sent to traveler's email address. ReSPA will ask in the Request for services (an order to the selected Contractor) an option for web check in of the travelers prior to their arrival at the place of the departure flights. The Contractor shall provide requested service or at least shall provide information whether this option is available at the certain carrier to the traveler that would like personally to check in a seat online, once ticket is issued.





The general cancellation policy must be clearly outlined at the technical offer as well as the policy for the open tickets.

ReSPA will not accept bookings for services which will result in 100% cancellation fees if the cancellation/change has been requested in a reasonable period before the mission.

In the case of cancellation on short notice, the best alternative option to facilitate the mission in question should be provided. In addition, the Contractor will endeavour to minimise any penalties incurred by ReSPA. Penalties regarding any additional charges attributed to a fault of the Contractor will, however not be paid by ReSPA. The Contractor has a duty to keep ReSPA informed at all times on the status and changes of a mission including information on such aspects as schedules, prices, extra charges applicable etc.

Other services may additionally be provided upon request by ReSPA.

V. OTHER REQUIREMENTS

i. Activities rules

In general, the model activity of ReSPA is two/ three-day event with two/three overnights per traveller. The usual number of participants is 24 or 18 when in ReSPA premises or in the ReSPA region and 18 when in EU Member State.

The activity may vary per duration or number of participants, no matter of the place where event shall take place.

The participants from Albania and Kosovo* always travel to ReSPA premises by car or taxi, while a participant from Bosnia, Serbia and Macedonia at some occasions uses car or taxi.

ii. Ad hoc information requests/service updates

The Contractor will often be asked to provide quick information to travellers and/or ReSPA on flight/train/bus ticket prices/itineraries. This information must be provided at the earliest time possible and in any case within (1) one working day from the date of the request.

The Contractor shall provide ReSPA at the end of the month a quantitative Report on the services provided in the previous month.

The Contractor will be required to provide a presentation on updates/ upgrades of travel services to ReSPA as it might be needed and/or requested (maximum twice per year).





The successful tenderer may be requested to attend a small number of coordination meetings at the premises of ReSPA (1 to 2 meetings at the start of services and 1 to 2 per year thereafter). These meetings will not be reimbursed by ReSPA. Primarily, meetings shall be organised with the use of available technology (e.g. tele/video conference facilities), if necessary, in which case no reimbursement of fees (conference fees, equipment cost, telecommunication expenses) will occur.

iii. Flexibility of working hours

The Contractor shall be in a position to provide the aforementioned services, including the delivery of tickets and vouchers to RESPA if necessary, during normal working hours (Monday to Friday 8.00 – 18.00, CET +1) except public holidays which shall be communicated by ReSPA at the beginning of the year and/or start of the contract.

During working hours, the Contractor staff must be available by telephone, by e-mail or via voice call over internet solution of zero cost per call. The Contractor will provide a dedicated team to serve ReSPA and also a direct telephone line and e-mail address to be used for communication with ReSPA and its staff.

The Contractor shall guarantee enough resources to support via telephone and e-mail the volume of activities during normal working hours (Monday to Friday 8.00 – 18.00, CET +1) for each RESPA working day. Therefore, replacement of staff for any reason (sickness, holiday, training etc.) must be foreseen by the Contractor.

Flexibility during weekends and holidays is required. In particular, the Contractor has to make available and warrant a hotline service for urgent queries arising outside normal working hours and stretching at least two (2) hours before office hours and three (3) hours after (a telephone number must also be provided).

The ability of the Contractor to provide in addition to the above mentioned an emergency hotline service on a 24/7 basis for urgent queries arising outside the normal working hours will be considered advantageous in the evaluation of tenders.

The Contractor, in any case, shall provide resources for full support of the travellers in regard and during the trips organised under this Contract, once they are taking place.

iv. Communications of interest to ReSPA and travelers

The Contractor will inform travellers and RESPA immediately of changes in the scheduled flights and any significant circumstances that can incur changes in the scheduled flights, e.g. planned strikes, or any new carriers operating which might be of interest of the travellers and ReSPA, as well as any particular discount/offers proposed by carriers.





v. Confidentiality of information

The Contractor must ensure that personal data to which they may get access during the implementation of contract are protected.

vi. Statistics

The Contractor will be requested to provide detailed statistics at the end of each trimester (three (3) months) to reflect the work carried out for ReSPA. Such statistics may include ReSPA ticket purchases, costs covered for use of a car etc., by month and by destination, visas issued by country and expenditure under the contract by month etc.

vii. Contractor staff

High level of professionalism and "client-orientation" is expected by the staff of the Contractor.

The staff designated as contact persons with RESPA shall have a good working knowledge of English, while some knowledge of other EU languages would be appreciated. A good knowledge of the geographical areas in which ReSPA is mainly operating (Members of ReSPA countries) is also considered as an advantage. ReSPA expects that dedicated staff will be made available to the ReSPA account by the Contractor, as appropriate.

The Contractor shall ensure that any member of its staff dealing with ReSPA travels under this contract has the necessary and sufficient knowledge and training to render the services at the required level.

viii. Ordering process

Ordering process and delivery of services will be ensured through exchange of emails (request for service) between ReSPA travelers and the Contractor throughout the validity of the Contract.

The Contractor must provide at least two (if available) economically favorable possible options for each request for service.

The requests for services will be sent to the Contractor by ReSPA (or else as will be notified in advance) in form of list of participants with contact details and departure information. ReSPA will send the request for services by mail, 14 days before the event. In limited number of cases the request for services may be send with some delay (day or two).

The request for services, sent from ReSPA to Contractor, will indicate the travelling arrangements requested as follows:

- a) Issuing of flight tickets;
- b) Travel by car or taxi within Montenegro and
- c) Information on the location of the event venue; As for events organised at ReSPA all participants will be accommodated at ReSPA Campus in Danilovgrad, Montenegro





The Contractor shall reply to the request for services and will send all offers pertaining to one request in a single email, within 4 hours after the request is submitted by ReSPA by mail.

Upon receipt of the most economical offer from the Contractor, ReSPA will evaluate them and select the most economically favorable option. In the process of offer evaluation ReSPA reserves the right to check and/or compare the offer from the Contractor, in case of discrepancy ask for clarification and require contractor to charge the lower identified price. In cases when the contractor is not capable to comply with this request, ReSPA may purchase the tickets from other available providers (agencies, websites or directly from the flight carriers). The Contractor reserves the right to cancel the whole assignment and to carry out the activity with other provider(s).

In line with the previous ReSPA will issue to the Contractor a Purchase order for selected services, singed by a ReSPA Program Manager and submit it to the contractor within 24h after obtaining the offer.

Contractor, in line with the obtained Purchase Order, should initiate e-mail communication with travelers (CC ReSPA contact person for the particular event) in order to obtain e-mail confirmation on the selected travel options for particular traveler, in line with the approved Purchase Order. Travelers should confirm the communicated/offered travel option within 12 hours after submission by the Contractor. After obtaining e-mail confirmation from traveler, the contractor may issue the air ticket

In case of delay, contractor should try to reach the traveler on phone, and if this is unsuccessful, should communicate the encountered situation to the ReSPA contact person for the particular event.

In every communication the Activity reference number is mandatory to be indicated in the e-mail subject filed.

After completing the whole list of requirements as per approved Purchase Order, Contractor should send summary overview of issued air travel tickets, or land travel services, with all related data. Listed financial liabilities stipulated on the signed Purchase order must not be breached in any circumstances. Copy of signed purchase order must be enclosed to the Invoice for services.

VI. FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS PAYMENTS

i. Invoicing Process

The contractor shall issue monthly invoices for the services rendered, listed above, in a period of a calendar month. The monthly invoice must be accompanied by a consolidated monthly report detailing all transactions that took place in the referred month. The invoice will be considered valid only if the monthly report provides the following required information:

a) Description of transaction/service rendered: analytical information is required, e.g. name of the person on a mission, travel itinerary, dates and times of travel, cost, fare and tax details, the Contractor transaction fee etc.





- b) Action Reference Number, for each transaction listed (Note: this number is necessary for the identification of the relevant authorized order and the validation of the invoiced cost)
- c) Upon the request of ReSPA the Contractor must be able to provide supporting documents which proves the actual cost of services rendered (tickets, taxi rental, train etc.).

ReSPA shall approve or reject the monthly report and proceed to the payment of the invoice within (30) thirty days from receipt of the report and the invoice.

ReSPA is exempted from all taxes and duties, including Value Added Tax (VAT). The Contractor should demand payment directly by the traveller for all additional costs relating to any detours or parts of the journey made for private reasons. ReSPA takes no responsibility and will accept no request for payment of the cost of such travelling arrangements for private reasons. Private arrangements are not subject to the conditions of the contract.

The flexibility of the Contractor to invoice the services only after the provision of the services will be required during the evaluation of the offers. The possibility of invoicing services only after their provision must be clearly indicated in the offer. The invoice must be followed by signed Purchase Order (PO) from responsible ReSPA Programme Manager and with a detailed specification for each flight ticket (name and surname, dates, destinations, price). The PO must contain the number of the event and the name of the Activity.

ii. Transparency of third-party supplier's costs – random audits

The ReSPA reserves the right at any time to request a copy of the financial arrangement or invoice between the third-party provider of services and the contractor.

IMPORTANT NOTE: It is the clear intention of this tender that all potential contractors shall accept the payment model which is entirely based on transaction fees for each service provided, with no extra margin being added to the costs of each service provided by a third party.

Following such a request by ReSPA, if it can be ascertained that an extra cost has been added by the contractor to the third-party provider's quoted cost, then ReSPA reserves the right to reduce the amount of the invoice for that mission by the total amount of the extra cost identified for each particular service provided by the third party.

ReSPA also reserves the right to deal with other travel agencies, carriers, or other bodies for all services, as an alternative to the contract concluded with the successful Contractor, in particular where a cheaper price can be obtained from another supplier.





VII. CONTENT OF THE TECHNICAL OFFER

- a) The Tenderer shall enclose with the Technical Offer all documents and information that will enable its offer to be assessed in terms of quality and of compliance with the Terms of Reference.
- b) The Technical Offer shall include as a minimum the following information and must be undersigned for acceptance:
 - A brief description of the Tenderer's company and the types of services that the company offers;
 - A description of the methodology;
 - A Description of the team proposed by the tenderer to manage and oversee the tender, including the roles of the contact person and the quality manager, and any other persons who will ensure the provision of the highest possible quality of service for this tender. In addition to indicate the name and contact details of the person responsible for this contract tender.
- c) The Tenderer is also required to include an electronic copy of its 'Technical Offer' and 'Financial Offer' form together with paper copies that are mandatory. Electronic copies may be submitted on a physical medium (e.g. CD/DVD, USB stick) only. Please do not provide a link to a remote (e.g. file server-based or cloud-based etc.) service as this cannot be accepted.

VIII. CONTENT OF THE FINANCIAL OFFER

The Financial offer must be drawn up using the Financial Offer form (see Annex – Financial Offer). In order to be valid, it must be duly filled in, dated, stamped, and signed by the authorized person.

Please take special care to enter data in all boxes as described. Failure to provide a fully completed form may result in your offer being declared invalid and not being further evaluated.

IX. AWARD CRITERIA

The contract will be awarded to the most economically advantageous tender in terms of 80 % technical compliance /20 % financial offer ratio.

- a) The financial offers will be evaluated on the basis of the following formula: Lowest financial offer / financial offer being considered x 20.
- b) The following aspects will be considered in the evaluation of the technical offers against the award criterion on quality of services and support:





No.	Technical Offer – Organization and Methodology				
i.	Infrastructure and internal organisation of the tenderer	Team size and composition and balance of skill mix of proposed team: profiles, team roles and responsibilities of all team members, including resource back-up, flexible working hours.	40		
ii.	Conformance with services requested	Compliance of the ordering process and other process requirements stipulated in the TOR.	30		
iii.	Quality Management of services provided	Quality of the offer and accuracy of the description to provide the requested services and processes that ensure economy and efficiency of proposed fright arrangements	30		

Minimum attainment per criterion

Offers scoring less than 50% for any criterion will be deemed to be of insufficient quality and eliminated from further consideration.

Minimum attainment overall

Offers scoring less than 75% after the evaluation process will be considered to be of insufficient quality and eliminated from the following phase.

The sum of all criteria gives a total of 100 points. The respective weighting between the different awards criteria depends on the nature of the services required and is consequently closely related to the terms of reference. The award criteria are thus quantified parameters that the offer should comply with. The **Organization and Methodology** points will be weighted at **80%** in relation to the price.

X. NUMBER AND TITLES OF LOTS

One lot (1)

XI. XI. MAXIMUM BUDGET

Up to 70.630 EUR

XII. SCOPE FOR ADDITIONAL SERVICES

The Contracting Authority may, at its own discretion, extend the project in duration and/or scope subject to the availability of funding. Any extension of the contract would be subject to satisfactory performance by the Contractor.





XIII. ELIGIBILITY

As per Practical Guide and its annexes.

XIV. CANDIDATURE

All persons or groupings³ of such persons (consortia) may apply.

A consortium may be a permanent, legally-established grouping or a grouping which has been constituted informally for a specific tender procedure. All members of a consortium (i.e. the leader and all other members) are jointly and severally liable to the Contracting Authority.

The participation of an ineligible ⁴ person will result in the automatic exclusion of that person. In particular, if that ineligible person belongs to a consortium, the whole consortium will be excluded.

XV. NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS

No more than one application can be submitted whatever the form of participation (as an individual legal entity or as leader or member of a consortium submitting an application). In the event that a tenderer submits more than one application, all applications in which that person has participated will be excluded.

XVI. SUB-CONTRACTING

Subcontracting is not allowed.

XVII. PROVISIONAL DATE OF INVITATION TO TENDER

April 2018

XVIII. PROVISIONAL COMMENCEMENT DATE OF THE CONTRACT

June 2018

XIX. OPERATIONAL LANGUAGE

All written communications for this tender procedure and contract must be in English.

XX. LEGAL BASIS

EC Council Regulation No 1085/2006 of 17 July 2006 establishing an Instrument for Pre- Accession Assistance (IPA); Grant Contract CN 2016/373 854.

⁴ Per PRAG

3

³ Participation is open to all legal persons [participating either individually or in a grouping (consortium) of tenderers] which are established in a Member State of the European Union or in a country or territory of the regions covered and/or authorised by the specific instruments applicable to the programme under which the contract is financed.





XXI. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Certain documents and forms included in the tender dossier are developed for the needs of ReSPA as international organisation entitled to used them in accordance with the Practical Guide and its annexes.

Annex - Financial Offer

A separate Annex for the financial offer is part of the tender dossier and tenderer is invited to propose several types of transaction fees as the following:

Item No.	Transaction type	Transaction fee - Unit price in Euro	Average price in Euro
1.	Issuing a flight ticket for maximum 2 segments in ReSPA Region		
2.	Issuing a flight ticket for maximum 4 segments in Europe		
3.	Issuing flight ticket for maximum 4 segments outside Europe		
4.	Changing a flight ticket for maximum 2 segments in ReSPA Region		
5.	Changing a flight ticket for maximum 4 segments in Europe		
6.	Changing a flight ticket for maximum 4 segments outside Europe		
7.	Canceling any flight ticket		
8.	Web check-in		
Item No.	Transaction type	Price in Eu	iro
9.	Arranging transportation with a car (up to 3 pax) from Danilovgrad to Podgorica Airport		

General comments on the financial offer:

- a) All prices must be quoted in Euro. If necessary, please use the conversion rates published in the Official Journal of the European Communities on the day when the invitation to this tender was issued. This information is available on the following website of the European Central Bank: http://www.ecb.int/stats/eurofxref.
- b) The assumptions stated below the table must be included on the tenderer's Financial
- c) Offer which must be undersigned for acceptance.
- d) The overall price of the contractor will contain the actual cost of the services and transaction fee, but not exceeding the ReSPA's budget lines ceilings.
- e) Prices must be quoted free of all duties, taxes and other charges (including VAT) as the ReSPA is exempt from such charges.
- f) No further costs will be reimbursed by ReSPA.

ANNEX B. III: ORGANISATION & METHODOLOGY

To be completed by the tenderer

Please provide the following information:

1. INFRASTRUCTURE AND INTERNAL ORGANISATION OF THE TENDERER

- Team size and composition and balance of skill mix of proposed team: profiles, team roles and responsibilities of all team members, including resource back-up, flexible working hours
- Any comments you have on the Terms of Reference for the successful execution of
 activities, in particular regarding the objectives and expected results, thus
 demonstrating the degree of understanding of the contract. Your opinion on the key
 issues related to the achievement of the contract objectives and expected results.

2. CONFORMANCE WITH SERVICES REQUESTED

 Compliance of the ordering process and other process requirements stipulated in the TOR.

3. QUALITY MANAGEMENT OF SERVICES PROVIDED

• Quality of the offer and accuracy of the description to provide the requested services and processes that ensure economy and efficiency of proposed flight arrangements.

April 2018 Page 1 of 1

ANNEX B IV: Financial Offer

The Contractor shall establish a price for its services in form of a transaction fee. The price fees charged by the tenderer for the services listed must be expressed as a fixed figure in Euro. The cost should be given to two decimal places i.e. €10.50.

Item No.	Transaction type	Transaction fee Unit price in Euro	Average price in Euro
1.	Issuing a flight ticket for maximum 2 segments in ReSPA Region		
2.	Issuing a flight ticket for maximum 4 segments in Europe		
3.	Issuing flight ticket for maximum 4 segments outside Europe		
4.	Changing a flight ticket for maximum 2 segments in ReSPA Region		
5.	Changing a flight ticket for maximum 4 segments in Europe		
6.	Changing a flight ticket for maximum 4 segments outside Europe		
7.	Cancelling any flight ticket		
8.	Web check-in		
Item No.	Transaction type	Price in Eu	iro
9.	Arranging transportation with a car (up to 3 pax) from Danilovgrad to Podgorica Airport		
	TOTAL PRICE	Price in Eu	ıro:

General comments on the financial offer:

- a) All prices must be quoted in Euro. If necessary, please use the conversion rates published in the Official Journal of the European Communities on the day when the invitation to this tender was issued. This information is available on the following website of the European Central Bank: http://www.ecb.int/stats/eurofxref.
- b) The assumptions stated below the table must be included on the tenderer's Financial
- c) Offer which must be undersigned for acceptance.
- d) The overall price of the contractor will contain the actual cost of the services and transaction fee, but not exceeding the ReSPA's budget lines ceilings.
- e) Prices must be quoted free of all duties, taxes and other charges (including VAT) as the ReSPA is exempt from such charges.
- f) No further costs will be reimbursed by ReSPA.

Assumptions:

The financial offer includes all-inclusive costs and fees necessary for successful implementation of all of the activities and finalisation of high quality requested deliverables, related administrative tasks and costs, overheads (such as telecommunications & postage, IT, stationery, bank charges, taxes, social security etc.).

ANNEX 2018 Page 1 of 1



ANNEX V. FINANCIAL IDENTIFICATION

PRIVACY STATEMENT

 $\underline{\text{http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts grants/info contracts/financial id/financial id en.cfm\#en}$

Please use CAPITAL LETTERS and LATIN CHARACTERS when filling in the form.

- 1 Enter the final bank data and not the data of the intermediary bank.
- 2 This does not refer to the type of account. The account name is usually the one of the account holder. However, the account holder may have chosen to give a different name to its bank account.
- 3 Fill in the IBAN Code (International Bank Account Number) if it exists in the country where your bank is established
- 4 Only applicable for US (ABA code), for AU/NZ (BSB code) and for CA (Transit code). Does not apply for other countries.
- (5) It is preferable to attach a copy of RECENT bank statement. Please note that the bank statement has to confirm all the information listed above under 'ACCOUNT NAME', 'ACCOUNT NUMBER/IBAN' and 'BANK NAME'. With an attached statement, the stamp of the bank and the signature of the bank's representative are not required. The signature of the account-holder and the date are ALWAYS mandatory.



ANNEX V. LEGAL ENTITY

PRIVACY STATEMENT

http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts grants/info contracts/legal entities en.cfm#en

Please use CAPITAL LETTERS and LATIN CHARACTERS when filling in the form.

PRIVATE/PUBLIC LAW BODY WITH LEGAL FORM

OFFICIAL NAME ①			
BUSINESS NAME (if different)			
ABBREVIATION			
LEGAL FORM			
ORGANISATION TYPE	FOR PROFIT	NGO ② YES NO	
MAIN REGISTRATION I	NUMBER ③		
SECONDARY REGISTRA	ATION NUMBER		
PLACE OF MAIN REGISTRATION	CITY COUNTRY		
DATE OF MAIN REGIST	RATION DD MM	ΥΥΥΥ	
VAT NUMBER			
ADDRESS OF HEAD OFFICE			
POSTCODE	P.O. BOX	CITY	
COUNTRY		PHONE	
E-MAIL			
DATE		STAMP	
DATE		STAIVIP	
SIGNATURE OF AUTHO	PRISED REPRESENTATIVE		

¹ National denomination and its translation in EN or FR if existing.

² NGO = Non Governmental Organisation, to be completed if NFPO is indicated.

³ Registration number in the national register of companies. See table with corresponding field denomination by country.

LIST OF ENTITIES INVITED TO SUBMIT A TENDER

Note: Tender dossier is available on the ReSPA web site (http://www.respaweb.eu/0/procurement) and all interested parties who fulfill the requirements are invited to apply.

INVITATION TO TENDER FOR THE PROVISION OF TRAVEL SERVICES COMPANY NAME and E-MAIL CONTACT:

Miross travel agency
 Marka Miljanova 1/1
 81 000 Podgorica
 tel. ++382 20 231 383

e-mail: office@miross.me

2. Congress Travel
Dzordza Vašingtona 45
81000 Podgorica
tel. ++ 382 20 229-550

e-mail: office@congresstravel.me

3. Grand travel agency 19 Decembar 5 81000 Podgorica tel. ++382 20 664-666

e-mail: grand@grand.me

Savana Tourist Enterprises
 Orce Nikolov 20,
 1000 Skopje, Macedonia
 tel. ++ 389 2 3115 826,
 fax ++ 389 2 3114 206,

e-mail: info@savana.com.mk

5. BTA travel agency Takovska 6,

11000 Belgrade, Serbia

tel: ++381113239418,

Fax: +381113239418,

e-mail: office@bta.co.rs

Primus agency
 Lokov 3-1/11

 1000 Skopje, Macedonia
 tel: +38970216765

e-mail: info@primus.com.mk

7. Fly Fly TravelKnez Mihajlova 4,1100 Belgrade, Serbiatel: ++381112185616

e-mail: upit@flyflytravel.com

8. Veneta travel agencyRr. Garibaldi 59,10 000 Prishtine

Tel: ++37744141282

e-mail: info@veneta-travel.com

Centrotrans agency
 Kurta Schorka 14,
 Sarajevo 71 000, BiH

Tel: ++38733770800

e-mail: info@centrotrans.com

10. URBAN Agency Kralja Nikole 122

81000 Podgorica, Montenegro

tel: ++38267949197

e-mail: taxi.mne@gmail.com

11. Fenix agecy Arsenija Boljevica 171, 81000 Podgorica, Montenegro

tel: ++38269790586

e-mail: boljevicn1@gmail.com

12. Euro Car Rentals 1000 Tirana, Albania tel:+355 67 600 5454

e-mail: finance@eurocar.al
e-mail: klajd.ferraj@eurocar.al

13. SIRIUS TRAVEL d.o.o Obala Kulina Bana 5 71000 Sarajevo, BiH

Tel: ++387 33 555 035

Fax: ++387 33 550 941

e-mail: siriustravel@bih.net.ba

14. Albani Express

Komuna e Parisit , Sheshi "Gjeneral Jozef San Martini", Pall.3,Hy.18 ,Ap.10

1000 Tirana, Albania

tel: ++355 4 45 27 394

e-mail: info@albaniaexpresstravel.com

C II. ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLIANCE GRID

Contract t	itle :	PROVISION OF TRAVEL SERV	/ICES		Reference:		RESPA	/EC/SEI	R/002-18				
Tender envelope number		Tenderer's name (Leader) (Nationality)	Other members of the consortium if any Name (Nationality)	Within deadline?	Tender submission form duly completed and only 1 tender per tenderer?	Eligible nationality (all parties including subcontractors if known)?	Tenderer's declaration (signed by each consortium member, if appropriate)?	Language as required?	Economic & financial capacity? (OK/a/b/)¹	Professional capacity ? (OK/a/b/)	Technical capacity? (OK/a/b/)	Organisation & methodology exists?	Overall decision? (Accept / Reject)
1													
2													
3													
4													
5													
6													
7													
8													

Chairperson's name	
Chairperson's signature	
Date	

¹ Enter 'OK' if all criteria have been satisfied, otherwise enter 'a', 'b', 'c', etc to record any criteria which have not been satisfied

ANNEX C. III

EVALUATOR'S GRID

To be completed for each tender by each evaluator

No.	Technical Offer	– Organization and Methodology	Max. Points	Initial assesment
1.	Infrastructure and internal organisation of the tenderer	Team size and composition and balance of skill mix of proposed team: profiles, team roles and responsibilities of all team members, including resource back-up, flexible working hours.	40	
2.	Conformance with services requested	Compliance of the ordering process and other process requirements stipulated in the TOR.	30	
3.	Quality Management of services provided	Quality of the offer and accuracy of the description to provide the requested services and processes that ensure economy and efficiency of proposed fright arrangements	30	
4.	TOTAL Points		100	

Strengths	
Weaknesses	

Evaluation performed by:

Name	
Signature	
Date	

SERVICE TENDER SUBMISSION FORM

Ref: RESPA/EC/SER/002-18

<Contract title> <Lot number & lot title, if applicable>

Please supply one signed tender (including signed statements of exclusivity and availability from all key experts proposed, if applicable, a completed financial identification form and a completed legal entity file (only for the Leader) and declarations from the Leader and all members (if you are in a consortium), together with three copies. The attachments to this submission form (i.e. declarations, statements, proofs) may be in original or copy. If copies are submitted, the originals must be dispatched to the Contracting Authority upon request. For economic and ecological reasons, we strongly recommend that you submit your files on paper (no plastic folder or divider). We also suggest you use double-sided printing wherever possible. All data included in this application must concern only the legal entity or entities making the tender.

Any additional documentation (brochures, letters etc.) sent with your tender will not be taken into consideration. Applications submitted by a **consortium** (i.e. either a permanent, legally-established grouping or a grouping set up informally for a specific tender procedure) must follow the instructions applicable to the consortium leader and its members.

An economic operator may, where appropriate and for a particular contract, rely on the capacities of other entities, regardless of the legal nature of the links which it has with them. With regard to technical and professional criteria, an economic operator may only rely on the capacities of other entities where the latter will perform the works or services for which these capacities are required. If they do, they must prove to the contracting authority that they have the resources needed to perform the contract, for example by producing a commitment from those entities to place resources at their disposal. Such entities, for instance the parent company of the economic operator, must respect the same rules of eligibility and nationality as the economic operator, as well as the relevant selection criteria..

1 SUBMITTED by (i.e. the identity of the Tenderer)

	Name(s) of legal entity or entities making this application	Nationality ¹
Leader ²		
Member		
Etc.		

2 CONTACT PERSON (for this tender)

Name	
Organisation	
Address	
Telephone	
Fax	
e-mail	

3 ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL CAPACITY³

Please complete the following table of financial data⁴ based on your annual accounts and your latest projections. If annual accounts are not yet available for the current year or past year, please provide your latest estimates in the columns marked with **. Figures in all columns must be calculated on the same basis to allow a direct, year-on-year comparison to be made (or, if the basis has changed, please provide an explanation of the change as a footnote to the table). When the current ratio is set as selection criterion, for non-for-profit organisations the ratio has to be calculated without taking into account within the current liabilities the pre-financing received from donors for ongoing projects. Any other clarification or explanation which is judged necessary may also be provided. If the tenderer is a public body, please provide equivalent information.

Financial data Data requested in this table must be consistent with the selection criteria set in the contract notice	2 years before last year ⁵ <specify> EUR</specify>	Year before last year ⁵ <specify> EUR</specify>	Last year⁵ <mark><specify></specify></mark> EUR	Average 6 EUR	[Past-year EUR]**	[Current year EUR]**
Annual turnover ⁷ , excluding this contract						
Current Assets ⁸						
Current Liabilities ⁹						
[Current ratio (current assets/current liabilities)	Not applicable	Not applicable		Not applicabl e	Not applicable	Not applicable]

4 STAFF

Please provide the following statistics on staff for the current year and the two previous years. 10

Annual Manpower		fore past ear	Past year		Current year		Period average		
	Overall Relevant fields ¹¹		Overall Relevant fields 11		Overall	Relevant fields 11	Overall	Relevant fields 11	
Permanent staff 12									
Other staff									
Total									
Permanent staff as a proportion of total staff (%)	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	

5 AREAS OF SPECIALISATION

Please fill in the table below to indicate any areas of specialist knowledge related to this contract for each legal entity making this tender. State the type of area of specialisation as the row heading and use the name of the legal entity as the column headings. Indicate the areas of specialist knowledge each legal entity has by placing a tick (\checkmark) in the box corresponding to the specialisation in which it has significant experience. **Maximum 10 specialisations**.

	Leader	Member 2	Member 3	Etc.
Relevant specialisation 1				
Relevant specialisation 2				
Etc. ¹¹				

6 EXPERIENCES

Please fill in the table below to summarise the main projects related to this contract carried out over the past 3years¹² by the legal entity or entities making this tender. The number of references to be provided must not exceed 15 for the entire tender.

Ref no (maximum 15)	Proje	ct title						
Name of legal entity	Country	Overall contract value (EUR) ¹³	Proportion carried out by legal entity (%) ¹⁸	No of staff provided	Name of client	Origin of funding	Dates (start/end)	Name of consortium members, if any
	Detailed description of project					Туре	and scope of	services provided ¹⁵

7 DECLARATIONS

As part of their tender, each legal entity identified under point 1 of this tender, including every consortium member, must submit a signed declaration using the attached format. The declaration may be in original or in copy. If copies are submitted, the originals must be sent to the Contracting Authority upon request.

Moreover, each legal entity identified under point 1 of this application, including every consortium member, and each capacity-providing entity (if any) must submit a signed declaration of honour on exclusion and selection criteria (form A14 available at the following link: http://ec.europa.eu/europeaid/prag/annexes.do?chapterTitleCode=A).

8 STATEMENT

I, the undersigned, being the authorised signatory of the above tenderer (for a consortium, this must include all consortium members), hereby declare that we have examined and accept without reserve or restriction the entire contents of the tender dossier for the tender procedure referred to above. We offer to provide the services requested in the tender dossier on the basis of the following documents, which comprise our Technical offer, and our Financial offer, which is submitted in a separate, sealed envelope:

- Organisation & Methodology
- □ Tenderer's declarations (for a consortium, two from each consortium member)
- Completed financial identification form (see Annex VI to the draft contract) providing details of the bank account into which payments under the proposed contract should be made in the event that we are awarded the contract (or the financial identification number or a copy of the financial identification form provided to the Contracting Authority on an earlier occasion, unless it has changed in the meantime)

- □ Completed legal entity file (or the legal entity number allocated. Alternatively a copy of the legal entity file provided to the Contracting Authority on an earlier occasion, unless the legal status has changed in the meantime)
- □ Duly authorised signature: an official document (statutes, power of attorney, notary statement, etc.) proving that the person who signs on behalf of the company/joint venture/consortium is duly authorised to do so.
- Documentary proof or statements required under the law of the country where we are effectively established (or each of the companies in case of a consortium), to show that we do not fall into any of the exclusion situations listed in Section 2.3.3 of the Practical Guide. This evidence or these documents or statements must carry a date, which is not more than one year before the date of submission of the tender. In addition, a statement is furnished stating that the situations described in these documents have not changed since then.
- □ Documentary evidence of the financial and economic capacity as well as the technical and professional capacity according to the selection criteria specified in the contract notice.

[We undertake to guarantee the eligibility of the subcontractor(s) for the parts of the services for which we have stated our intention to subcontract in the Organisation and Methodology.] (delete this sentence if not applicable)

This tender is subject to acceptance within the validity period stipulated in clause 6 of the Instructions to tenderers.

We are fully aware that, for a consortium, the composition of the consortium cannot be changed in the course of the tender procedure, unless the Contracting Authority has given its prior approval in writing. We are also aware that the consortium members have joint and several liabilities towards the Contracting Authority concerning participation in the above tender procedure and any contract awarded to us as a result of it.

We understand that entities upon whose capacity we rely with regard to economic and financial criteria, become jointly and severally liable for the performance of the contract.

Signed on behalf of the Tenderer

Name	
Signature	
Date	

FORMAT FOR THE DECLARATION REFERRED TO IN POINT 7 OF THE TENDER SUBMISSION FORM

To be submitted on the headed notepaper of the legal entity concerned

<Date>

< Name and address of the Contracting Authority — see points 8 of the Instructions to tenderers >

Your ref: < reference >

TENDERER'S DECLARATION

Dear Sir/Madam

In response to your letter of invitation for the above contract we, < Name(s) of legal entity or entities>, hereby declare that we:

- are submitting this tender [on an individual basis]* [as member of the consortium led by < name of the leader> [ourselves]]* for this contract. We confirm that we are not participating in any other tender for the same contract in any form (as a member, leader, in a consortium or as an individual candidate);
- agree to abide by the ethics clauses in Section 13 of the Instructions to Tenderers, have not been
 involved in the preparation of the project which is the subject of this tender procedure unless it is proved
 that the involvement in previous stages of the project does not constitute unfair competition, and have no
 professional conflicting interests and/or any relation with other tenderers or other parties in the tender
 procedure or behaviour which may distort competition at the time of submission of this tender according
 to Section 2.3.6. of the Practical Guide;
- [have attached a current list of the enterprises in the same group or network as ourselves] [are not part of a group or network]* and have only included data in the tender form concerning the resources and experience of [our legal entity] [our legal entity and the entities for which we attach a written undertaking]*;
- will inform the Contracting Authority immediately if there is any change in the above circumstances at any stage during the implementation of the tasks;
- fully recognise and accept that if the above-mentioned persons participate in spite of being in any of the situations listed in Section 2.3.3.1. of the Practical Guide or if the declarations or information provided prove to be false they may be subject to rejection from this procedure and to administrative sanctions in the form of exclusion and financial penalties representing 2% to 10% of the total estimated value of the contract being awarded and that this information may be published on the Commission website in accordance with the conditions set in Section 2.3.4. of the Practical Guide;
- are aware that, for the purposes of safeguarding the EU's financial interests, our personal data may be transferred to internal audit services, to the European Court of Auditors, to the Financial Irregularities Panel or to the European Anti-Fraud Office.

We understand that our tender and the expert may be excluded if we propose the same key expert as another tenderer or if we propose a key expert who is engaged in an EU/EDF financed project if the input from his/her position in that contract could be required on the same dates as his/her work under this contract.

We understand that if we fail to respond within the delay after receiving the notification of award, or if the information provided is proved false, the award may be considered null and void.

DECLARATION OF HONOUR ON EXCLUSION AND SELECTION CRITERIA

The undersigned [insert name of the signatory of this form], representing:

5	<u> </u>						
(only for natural persons) himself or herself	or (only for legal persons) the following legal person:						
ID or passport number:	Full official name:						
	Official legal form:						
('the person')	Statutory registration number:						
	Full official address:						
	VAT registration number:						
	('the person')						
I – Situa	lation of exclusion concerning the person						
	ned person is in one of the following situations:	YES	NO				
administered by a liquidator or l business activities are suspende	ency or winding up procedures, its assets are being by a court, it is in an arrangement with creditors, its ed or it is in any analogous situation arising from a der national legislation or regulations;						
(b) it has been established by a final person is in breach of its obligation contributions in accordance with those of the country in which the of the performance of the contract.							
(c) it has been established by a fina person is guilty of grave professi regulations or ethical standards having engaged in any wrongfu credibity where such conduct der particular, any of the following:							
(i) fraudulently or negliger verification of the absence of criteria or in the performance							
(ii) entering into agreemer competition;	nt with other persons with the aim of distorting						
(iii) violating intellectual prope							
(iv) attempting to influence authority during the award pro							
(v) attempting to obtain cor advantages in the award prod							
(d) it has been established by a final							
	of Article 1 of the Convention on the protection of the ncial interests, drawn up by the Council Act of 26 July						
	n Article 3 of the Convention on the fight against of the European Communities or officials of EU						

Member States, drawn up by the Council Act of 26 May 1997, and in Article 2(1 Council Framework Decision 2003/568/JHA, as well as corruption as defined in legal provisions of the country where the contracting authority is located, country in which the person is established or the country of the performance of contract;	the the					
(iii) participation in a criminal organisation, as defined in Article 2 of Cou Framework Decision 2008/841/JHA;	ıncil [
(iv) money laundering or terrorist financing, as defined in Article 1 of Direct 2005/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council;						
 (v) terrorist-related offences or offences linked to terrorist activities, as define Articles 1 and 3 of Council Framework Decision 2002/475/JHA, respectively inciting, aiding, abetting or attempting to commit such offences, as referred t Article 4 of that Decision; 	⁄, or [
(vi) child labour or other forms of trafficking in human beings as defined in Artic of Directive 2011/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council;						
(e) the person has shown significant deficiencies in complying with the main obligation the performance of a contract financed by the Union's budget, which has led to its e termination or to the application of liquidated damages or other contractual penals or which has been discovered following checks, audits or investigations by Authorising Officer, OLAF or the Court of Auditors;	early					
(f) it has been established by a final judgment or final administrative decision that person has committed an irregularity within the meaning of Article 1(2) of Cou Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 2988/95;						
(g) for the situations of grave professional misconduct, fraud, corruption, other crim offences, significant deficiencies in the performance of the contract or irregularity, applicant is subject to:						
i.facts established in the context of audits or investigations carried out by the C of Auditors, OLAF or internal audit, or any other check, audit or control perforr under the responsibility of an authorising officer of an EU institution, of a Europ office or of an EU agency or body;	med					
ii.non-final administrative decisions which may include disciplinary measures ta by the competent supervisory body responsible for the verification of application of standards of professional ethics;						
iii.decisions of the ECB, the EIB, the European Investment Fund or internation organisations;	onal					
iv.decisions of the Commission relating to the infringement of the Union's competing rules or of a national competent authority relating to the infringement of Union national competition law; or						
v.decisions of exclusion by an authorising officer of an EU institution, of a Europ office or of an EU agency or body.						
 II – Situations of exclusion concerning natural persons with power of repre- making or control over the legal person 	sentat	tion, de	cision			
Not applicable to natural persons, Member States and local authorities						
(2) declares that a natural person who is a member of the administrative, management or supervisory body of the above-mentioned legal person, or who has powers of representation, decision or control with regard to the above- mentioned legal person (this covers company directors, members of management or supervisory bodies, and cases where one natural person holds a majority of shares) is in one of the following situations:	YES	NO	N/A			
Situation (c) above (grave professional misconduct)						
Situation (d) above (fraud, corruption or other criminal offence)						

Situation (e) above (significant deficiencies in performance of a contract)						
Situation (f) above (irregularity)						
III – Situations of exclusion concerning natural or legal persons assuming unlimited lia debts of the legal person						
(3) declares that a natural or legal person that assumes unlimited liability for the debts of the above-mentioned legal person is in one of the following situations:	YES	NO	N/A			
Situation (a) above (bankruptcy)						
Situation (b) above (breach in payment of taxes or social security contributions)						
IV – Grounds for rejection from this procedure						
(4) declares that the above-mentioned person:		YES	NO			
(h) has distorted competition by being previously involved in the preparation of procu	rement					

V - Remedial measures

documents for this procurement procedure.

If the person declares one of the situations of exclusion listed above, it must indicate measures it has taken to remedy the exclusion situation, thus demonstrating its reliability. This may include e.g. technical, organisational and personnel measures to prevent further occurrence, compensation of damage or payment of fines. The relevant documentary evidence which illustrates the remedial measures taken must be provided in annex to this declaration. This does not apply for situations referred in point (d) of this declaration.

VI - Evidence upon request

Upon request and within the time limit set by the contracting authority the person must provide information on the persons that are members of the administrative, management or supervisory body. It must also provide the following evidence concerning the person itself and concerning the natural or legal persons which assume unlimited liability for the debt of the person:

For situations described in (a), (c), (d) or (f), production of a recent extract from the judicial record is required or, failing that, an equivalent document recently issued by a judicial or administrative authority in the country of establishment of the person showing that those requirements are satisfied.

For the situation described in point (a) or (b), production of recent certificates issued by the competent authorities of the State concerned are required. These documents must provide evidence covering all taxes and social security contributions for which the person is liable, including for example, VAT, income tax (natural persons only), company tax (legal persons only) and social security contributions. Where any document described above is not issued in the country concerned, it may be replaced by a sworn statement made before a judicial authority or notary or, failing that, a solemn statement made before an administrative authority or a qualified professional body in its country of establishment.

The person is not required to submit the evidence if it has already been submitted for another procurement procedure. The documents must have been issued no more than one year before the date of their request by the contracting authority and must still be valid at that date.

The signatory declares that the person has already provided the documentary evidence for a previous procedure and confirms that there has been no change in its situation:

Document	Full reference to previous procedure
Insert as many lines as necessary.	

VII - Selection criteria

VII – Selec	Clion Criteria			
(5) declares that the above-mentioned person c criteria applicable to it individually as provided in	YES	NO	N/A	
(a) It has the legal and regulatory capacity to pursue the professional activity needed for performing the contract as required in section [insert] of the tender specifications;				
(b) It fulfills the applicable economic and financial [insert] of the tender specifications;	criteria indicated in section			
(c) It fulfills the applicable technical and professional criteria indicated in section [insert] of the tender specifications.				
		T	1	T
(6) if the above-mentioned person is the sole tenderer or the leader in case of joint tender, declares that:				N/A
(d) the tenderer, including all members of the group in case of joint tender and including subcontractors if applicable, complies with all the selection criteria for which a consolidated asseessment will be made as provided in the tender specifications.				
VII – Eviden	ce for selection			II.
The signatory declares that the above-mentioned documents listed in the relevant sections of the electronically upon request and without delay.				
The person is not required to submit the evidence if procedure. The documents must have been issued n the contracting authority and must still be valid at that	o more than one year before			
The signatory declares that the person has alread procedure and confirms that there has been no change		y evide	nce fo	r a pre
Document	Full reference to pre	vious p	rocedu	ıre
Insert as many lines as necessary.				
The above-mentioned person may be subject to sanctions (exclusion or financial penalty) if any condition for participating in this procedure prove	of the declarations or in the control of the contro	nformati	ion pr	ovided
Full name Date	Date			e e

If this declaration is completed by a consortium member:

The following table contains our financial data as included in the consortium's application form. These data are based on our annual audited accounts and our latest projections. Estimated figures (i.e., those not included in annual audited accounts) are given in the columns marked with **. Figures in all columns are calculated on the same basis to allow a direct, year-on-year comparison to be made (or, if the basis has changed, an explanation of the change must be provided as a footnote to the table). When the current ratio is set as selection criterion, for non-for-profit organisations the ratio has to be calculated without taking into account within the current liabilities the pre-financing received from donors for ongoing projects. Any clarification or explanation which is judged necessary may also be provided.

Financial data Data requested in this table must be consistent with the selection criteria set in the contract notice	2 years before last ⁵ <specify> EUR</specify>	Year before last year ⁵ <specify> EUR</specify>	Last year ⁵ <specify> EUR</specify>	Average ⁶ EUR	[Past year EUR]**	[Current year EUR]**
Annual turnover ⁷ , excluding this contract						
Current Assets ⁸						
Current Liabilities ⁹						
[Current ratio (current assets/current liabilities)	Not applicable	Not applicable		Not applicable	Not applicable	Not applicable]

The following table contains statistics on our staff, as included in the consortium's tender form:

Average manpower	Year before past year		Past year		Current year		Period average	
	Overall	Relevant fields ¹¹	Overall	Relevant fields ¹¹	Overall	Relevant fields ¹¹	Overall	Relevant fields ¹¹
Permanent staff 12								
Other staff								

\	C - 14	I- C.	н
Yours	tait	ทบเม	IIV.

< Signature of authorised representative >

< Name and position of authorised representative >

¹ Country in which the legal entity is registered.

Add/delete additional lines for consortium members as appropriate. **Note** that a subcontractor is not considered to be a consortium member for the purposes of this application form. Subsequently, data on subcontractors must not appear in the data related to the economic, financial and professional capacity. If this application is submitted by an individual legal entity, the name of that legal entity should be entered as 'Leader' (and all other lines should be deleted). Any change in the identity of the Leader and/or any consortium members between the deadline for receipt of applications indicated in the Contract notice and the award of the contract is not permitted without the prior written consent of the Contracting Authority.

Natural persons must prove their capacity in accordance with the selection criteria and by the appropriate means.

If this application is submitted by a consortium, the data in the table must be the sum of the data in the corresponding tables in the declarations provided by the consortium members — see point 7 of this application form. Consolidated data are not requested for financial ratios.

- ⁵ Last year = last accounting year for which the entity's accounts have been closed.
- 6 Amounts entered in the 'Average' column must be the mathematical average of the amounts entered in the three preceding columns of the same row.
- The gross inflow of economic benefits (cash, receivables, other assets) generated from the ordinary operating activities of the enterprise (such as sales of goods, sales of services, interest, royalties, and dividends) during the year.
- A balance sheet account that represents the value of all assets that are reasonably expected to be converted into cash within one year in the normal course of business. Current assets include cash, accounts receivable, inventory, marketable securities, prepaid expenses and other liquid assets that can be readily converted to cash.
- A company's debts or obligations that are due within one year. Current liabilities appear on the company's balance sheet and include short term debt, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other debts.
- ¹⁰ If this application is submitted by a consortium, the data in the table above must be the sum of the data in the corresponding tables in the declarations provided by the consortium members see point 7 of this application form.
- Add / delete additional lines and/or rows as appropriate. If this application is submitted by an individual legal entity, the name of the legal entity should be entered as 'Leader' (and all other columns should be deleted).
- For framework contracts, only specific contracts corresponding to assignments implemented under such framework contracts shall be considered.
- ¹³ The effect of inflation will not be taken into account.
- 14 If the reference contract is only partially completed, please quote the percentage and value which has been completed.
- When supporting documents are to be issued by contracting authorities after the date of publication of PRAG 2014, please also indicate the function of key experts provided, whether belonging or not to permanent staff, and the number of months each of them worked on the project.